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From spaceships
to makeup
The work we do for the good of Aotearoa New Zealand
continues to grow. This page offers a snapshot of the
diverse range of activities we’ve been involved with over
the last year.

New organisms
decisions

Installations

Site visits

We inspected eight oil
and gas installations, a
dumping operation and
a permitted activity

We visited 166 sites,
including 34 airports,
as part of our first
investigation into the
unlawful use of harmful
firefighting foams

Store visits

Audits

Marine consents

We visited nine low-cost
discount stores to ensure
they understood that
imported cosmetics must
meet the rules

We visited oil and gas
sites in Taranaki, a coal
mine in the Waikato, and
conducted 13 audits to
check compliance with the
Emissions Trading Scheme

We made decisions on
10 applications for offshore
activity in our exclusive
economic zone

We assessed the risks
of 32 applications to
introduce new organisms
into New Zealand
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Chemicals
39 chemicals were prioritised by us for
reassessment from our long list of 700

Staff
69 of our 178 of our staff were given
comprehensive training in the Government’s
new regulatory practice regime

Hazardous
substances
decisions
We made sure that hazardous
substances being made,
imported, or used in
New Zealand are managed
safely and follow the rules

Rocket launches
We monitored six
rocket launches

Suggestions for
improvements
We recruited three
independent experts for a
new technical working group.
They reviewed our hazardous
substances compliance system
and made 31 suggestions
for improvements
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Statement of responsibility

The Annual Report of the Environmental
Protection Authority (EPA) meets the
requirements of section 151 of the Crown Entities
Act 2004 to provide information on operations,
performance, finance, and other obligations
for the year ended 30 June 2019. In meeting
these requirements, the Board of the EPA is
responsible for:
• the preparation of the EPA’s financial
statements and statement of performance,
and for the judgements made in them
• any end-of-year performance information
provided by the EPA under section 19A of the
Public Finance Act 1989
• establishing and maintaining a system
of internal controls designed to provide
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and
reliability of financial reporting.
In the Board’s opinion, these financial statements
and statement of performance fairly reflect the
financial position and operations of the EPA for
the year ended 30 June 2019.
This Annual Report also incorporates the
2019–2023 Statement of Intent and the 2019/20
Statement of Performance Expectations, which
were published on our website on 27 June 2019,
for presentation to Parliament in accordance
with sections 149 and 149L of the Crown Entities
Act 2004.

The Statement of Intent says what we want
to achieve for New Zealanders and the
New Zealand environment, and how we
propose to do this during the four years ending
30 June 2023. The purpose of a Statement of
Intent is to promote public accountability.
It describes our medium-term strategic direction,
and provides a base from which our performance
can be assessed.
The Statement of Intent is complemented by our
annual Statement of Performance Expectations,
which describes our financial position and
detailed work commitments, showing how we
intend to perform the services we are funded for
under Government appropriation and any thirdparty funding.
Signed on behalf of the Board by:

Julie Hardaker
Chairperson
31 October 2019

Tipene Wilson
Deputy Chairperson
31 October 2019
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Report from the Chairperson

This is my first annual review of the
Environmental Protection Authority’s activities.
The EPA is constantly reviewing its performance
to ensure it continues to meet its key obligations
to the Government, the responsible Ministers,
and to its customers and the public. Those
obligations are to protect the environment,
enhance our way of life and the economy, and to
protect people.
This annual review records a change in focus
for the EPA. We have committed to a shift from
work associated with processing applications
to giving greater emphasis to compliance
monitoring and enforcement, and to increasing
our level of engagement with communities and
stakeholders. Over the next four years the EPA
will be continuing with this journey. This annual
report records progress on our work programme
and initiatives to support this change.
With this change, three things still remain
constant.
The first is independence. The EPA’s work
touches the lives of everyone in New Zealand
in some way, no matter who they are or
where they are. Some of our decisions
and the matters we deal with generate
intense public debate and different views,
and sometimes they are controversial.

The third is listening. We listen to and take
account of the concerns of our community and
stakeholders. All concerns are legitimate and
are acknowledged, and they can be valuable in
refocusing the EPA’s future.
I acknowledge and thank Dame Kerry
Prendergast for her contribution and leadership
as chairperson of the Board from its inception
in June 2011 until her retirement last year. I want
to thank my fellow board members for their
contribution to the EPA’s governance. The mostly
new board membership has shown a professional
dedication to the EPA and its refocused journey.
And thank you to the EPA’s Chief Executive, Dr
Allan Freeth, for his leadership and enthusiasm,
along with his Executive Leadership Team, and
the dedication and expertise of all the EPA staff.
The EPA is a professional organisation which
is dedicated to helping create a safer, more
sustainable and exciting future for us all.

Julie Hardaker
Chairperson
Environmental Protection Authority

The second is evidence-based decision making.
To be confident in our decisions, we apply a
rigorous process based upon the best available
scientific evidence and mātauranga Māori.

Statement of Performance Expectations
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Ngā Kaihautū
Tikanga Taiao kōrero

Mai i a Ranginui e tu iho nei,
ko Papatūānuku e takato ake
nei, mauri ora ki te ao.
From sky father to earth mother,
greetings to the world.
E ngā mate haere, haere atu rā,
kauria atu rā i te moana tapu
a Te Moana Nui a Kiwa.
To those who have gone before
us, farewell, as you cross the
sacred seas of the Pacific Ocean.

He mihi tēnei ki a koutou, ko
koutou i tuia nei i ā mātou
kaupapa puta noa i a Aotearoa,
ko koutou e hapai ake i ngā kupu
ōhākī o koro o kui mā e pā ana
ki tēnei taonga – te ao tūroa.
Greetings to all of you who are
joined together in our countrywide philosophy. Your efforts
elevate the words of guidance
from our ancestors regarding
this taonga, the natural world.

E te kaumātua Lennie Henare
Johns – ahakoa kua haere ki
te taha o ōu tūpuna, kāore
koe e wareware i a mātou.
We acknowledge with deep
sadness the passing of one of our
Kaihautū, an esteemed elder, Lennie
Henare Johns – although you have
passed to sit at the side of your
ancestors, we will not forget you.

Statement of Performance Expectations
Leadership2019/20
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Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao
(Ngā Kaihautū), the
EPA’s statutory Māori
advisory committee,
provides advice and
assistance to the EPA on
matters relating to policy,
process, and decisions.
We do not speak for
individual iwi, hapū,
or whānau, but rather
encourage the voice of
Māori to come through
in EPA processes.

Last year I noted our focus on the EPA’s
mātauranga Māori programme and the
importance of weaving mātauranga into decision
making across the EPA. I acknowledge the
leadership shown by the EPA to develop this
programme in partnership with Ngā Kaihautū,
Te Herenga members, the EPA’s network of
environmental practitioners, and kaumātua drawn
from within Te Herenga, and I look forward to
supporting its roll-out in the coming year.
I am also immensely proud that the EPA was a
finalist in Ngā Tohu Reo Māori Awards 2018. The
EPA has made a big investment in te reo Māori
in recent years, with more than 70 percent of
EPA staff taking part in courses to grow their
confidence in speaking te reo. The educational
material in te reo Māori, developed as part of the
EPA’s Kāinga Haumaru/Safer Homes campaign,
has been very well received at community
events, including at Te Matatini ki te Ao 2019.
Ngā Kaihautū continues to draw inspiration from
the strength and commitment of kaitiaki across
Aotearoa. At the same time, we recognise the
depth of the EPA’s commitment to growing its
understanding and respect of the significant role
of Māori in the protection of the environment.
We are excited for the opportunities that will come
as mātauranga and science are woven together
through the various strands of the EPA’s work.

Nāku te rourou,
nāu te rourou,
ka ora ai te taiao.
With your contribution,
and my contribution,
the environment will thrive.
Mā tini, mā mano, ka rapa te whai.

Lisa te Heuheu
Tumuaki
Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao

Statement of Performance Expectations
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Chief Executive’s overview

In last year’s Annual Report, I outlined the
journey the EPA is undertaking in its programme
to refocus our work and mind-set.
Our challenge is to shift from seeing ourselves
as a reactive manager of regulatory processes
to being a proactive regulator, marshalling our
people, resources, and efforts in pursuit of the
things that matter most to the environment and
our nation.
Proactive regulators do not tick boxes. They take
the initiative, instituting plans and programmes
to achieve the best outcomes, concentrating on
the areas of work that will reap the most benefit.

Proactive regulators do not sit back and wait
for things to happen; instead they focus on
working smarter, streamlining processes to make
it easier for those who do business with them;
they manage risk effectively and are very clear
about where and how they can make the most
difference to protect the New Zealand way of life.
Proactive regulators use regulation to enable
others to work within the rules. They are open,
accountable, and confident about their decisionmaking processes and the rationale supporting
those decisions.
The outcomes of this approach are customers,
stakeholders and a nation that have confidence
in the regulator’s processes and decision making,
and higher levels of trust underpinned by
increased levels of engagement.

Figure 1: The EPA’s direction of travel

Current

Future

Processing
Compliance and Protection
Engagement
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However, proactive regulators must be well
grounded. Lofty aspirations are one thing,
realistic and achievable objectives are another.
In last year’s Annual Report, I listed a set of six
principles, or milestones, that would guide our
journey to being a proactive regulator and allow
others to measure our progress:
• being transparent in our operations and
decision making
• working with our customers
• being connected and aligned, nationally
and internationally
• being evidence-driven in our decision making
and planning
• being confident in our activities and less
risk averse
• being anticipatory in our regulatory
design and monitoring.
This Annual Report charts our progress against
each of those milestones. Our journey is well
under way, as we move from making change
happen to making it count in the areas of:
• engagement
• processing applications and decision making
• compliance monitoring and protection.

Engagement
A proactive regulator looks outwards. It seeks
to connect with others, both internationally and
nationally, as part of a national and global regime
that governments support, users understand,
and the public accepts.

Talking about our work
across New Zealand
When it comes to the scope, range, and outcomes
of the work we do every day, we have lots to talk
about. We take every opportunity to meet with
stakeholders and customers to hear their views
and ideas, and to explain where and how they can
be involved in helping us make decisions that do
good for New Zealand. This year we have worked
with our stakeholders in the following forums.
• We have had regular meetings with and
presentations to leading marine science
researchers.
• We have met monthly with oil and gas
operators and the holders of marine consents for
dumping waste and other matters.
• We have held hui in Taranaki and Dunedin
to help iwi better understand how the
Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental
Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012 (EEZ
Act) works and how they can engage in EEZ
processes. The hui also helped raise awareness
of the Act, strengthening our relationships and
giving iwi more confidence in our management
of consent processes and our decision making.

•
•

•

We worked with councils on the design of
the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA)
enforcement unit and supporting systems.
Hazardous Substances Modernisation
Reference Group meetings have been held
with representatives from a range of industry
sectors spanning agriculture, horticulture,
science and technology, chemicals, consumer,
and retail to discuss the progress of our
chemical modernisation programme.
We held an inaugural EPA stakeholder meetand-greet session, outlining our key initiatives
and work programme and showcasing aspects
of our scientific decision making.

Giving communities a voice
This year we have begun mapping out a
programme to increase the frequency and
quality of engagement with communities,
Māori, and specialised groups in our
domain, such as science educators and
environmental interest organisations.
We want to give a voice to the most diverse
range of community groups as we can, including
those of different ethnicities, animal and
agricultural interest groups, and workers across
high-risk industries.
Our programme began in March 2019 when we
invited students from Wellington schools and
colleges to celebrate International Women’s Day
with us at a breakfast workshop. The theme was
“Think equal, build smart, innovate for change”.
Students took part in small groups, discussing
how the theme might apply in their future
careers and the work of the EPA.
We followed this in June 2019 when
representatives from environmental and
community groups joined us at a Matariki
breakfast workshop. The purpose was for us
all to learn more about our collective aims and
to identify shared ideas and opportunities for
working together.
The Matariki breakfast marked the beginning
of what we hope will be a series of ongoing
conversations with community groups about our
mutual goals and aspirations.
Progress on our expanding community
engagement programme will be charted in future
annual reports.

Deepening our understanding
of Māori perspectives
To help deliver on our obligations to Māori, we
have maintained our long-standing commitment
to Te Herenga, a national network of kaitiaki from

Statement of Performance Expectations
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iwi and hapū across Aotearoa. We have invested
in our staff’s capability and understanding by
making available internally hosted te reo Māori
classes and through our EPA-tailored He Whetū
Mārama. This investment aims to improve
opportunities for Māori to participate in EPA
work, and the quality of information and service
to Māori.
The EPA was recognised for this work by being
named a finalist in the Government section of the
Ngā Tohu Reo Māori awards in December 2018.

Working with other government agencies
We have worked together with other
government agencies throughout the year
to address environmental challenges and
make improvements for a better future for
New Zealanders. In particular, we have worked
together with the Ministry for the Environment
on the review by an independent technical
working group of the hazardous substances
regulatory regime in New Zealand, and also
on the establishment of an interim RMA
enforcement unit within the EPA. We also
worked with the Ministry as part of the multiagency response to the discovery of the banned
chemical, perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS) in
firefighting foams, as well as Fire and Emergency
New Zealand, Ministry of Health, and others.
Our daily work across the organisation involves
close working relationships with many other
organisations, including WorkSafe New Zealand,
Maritime New Zealand, New Zealand
Customs Service, the Ministry for Primary
Industries, and local government authorities.
In managing the Emissions Trading Scheme
(ETS), we work closely with the Ministry for
the Environment, the Ministry for Primary
Industries, and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs
and Trade, on both our daily work and on the
proposed policy changes to the scheme.

Creating international alignment
This year, we represented New Zealand’s
interest by participating in a range of
Organisation for Economic Co-Operation
and Development (OECD) committees and
international forums to help New Zealand meet
its global environmental responsibilities.

These have included the following:
• The Joint Conferences of the Parties to
the Basel, Rotterdam, and Stockholm
Conventions held in Geneva. The theme
of the meeting was ‘Clean Planet, Healthy
People: Sound Management of Chemicals
and Waste’. We provided scientific and
technical advice to inform key decisions that
will protect people and our environment from
hazardous chemicals and plastic waste.
• In relation to the latter, we were part of the
New Zealand delegation that supported
amendments to the Basel Convention.
This is an international treaty designed to
reduce the movements of hazardous waste
between nations, and specifically to prevent
the transfer of hazardous waste to lessdeveloped countries.
• We attended the annual International
Transaction Log (ITL) forum in Bonn. The ITL
connects registries and secretariat systems
that are involved in the emissions trading
mechanism. We contributed to the key
decisions that are relevant to the operation of
the New Zealand Emissions Trading Register.
• We attended and contributed to the Heads
of EPA Australia and New Zealand meetings.
In March 2019 we provided an update on our
work on the Trans-Tasman Mutual Recognition
Arrangement. This is a non-treaty arrangement
aimed at developing an integrated transTasman economy and a seamless marketplace.
We also discussed the trusted regulator
concept, which will help strengthen the
alignment of chemical regulation between
New Zealand and Australia.

We are
working across
government
to address
environmental
challenges

Statement of Performance Expectations
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CASE STUDY

A new vaccine for a deadly disease
An important decision this year was the approval
of an application to import a genetically modified
vaccine. It will be used to immunise travellers,
including military personnel and emergency aid
workers, who are sent at short notice to areas
where the mosquito-transmitted and potentially
deadly Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) is
endemic. JEV is endemic to 24 countries, mostly
in Asia, but also occurs in northern Queensland
and parts of the Western Pacific (though not
New Zealand). There is no treatment for it, and
death rates can range from 10 to 20 percent.

The vaccine currently in use in New Zealand
provides immunity via two doses given 28 days
apart. The benefit of the new vaccine is that it
only needs a single dose and provides protection
within three to seven days. It is approved in
16 other countries and jurisdictions, including
Australia, and has an excellent environmental
safety record. It has been approved in
New Zealand as a prescription-only medicine.

Helping create Safer Homes for all

primary school children, their teachers and
families, and took part in community events
including the Poverty Bay A&P Show, Te Matatini
(the national kapa haka festival), Healthy in the
Hutt 2019, and the Home and Garden Show.

Household cleaning products are the largest
group of hazardous substances resulting in
hospitalisations and calls to the National Poisons
Centre. The rate of hospitalisations is highest for
children under five.
Our Safer Homes initiative provides easy-tounderstand advice and simple ways to help keep
families safe when using, storing, and disposing
of household chemicals (from shampoos and
cosmetics to garden pesticides and cleaning
products). The programme has a specific
focus on improving the wellbeing of children,
especially in areas where there has been a
higher incidence of harm related to hazardous
substances reported in previous years.
We worked in a partnership with Wellington
Rugby where players from the Wellington Lions
and Pride teams visited schools, communities,
local shows and events, and talked to children
and their families about the need for care when
using everyday chemicals, including household
cleaners and garden products. During the year
we visited schools, spoke to more than 400

This was the first approval under the Hazardous
Substances and New Organisms Act 1996
(HSNO Act) for release of a genetically modified
organism (GMO) without controls or conditions.

We also supported Wellington Rugby’s Community
House project – a heavily promoted charitable
fundraiser which involved building a house
equipped with lockable cupboards for storing
household chemicals. Proceeds from the sale of
the house will go to the Wellington Children’s
Hospital and the Junior Rugby programme.
We have published tips to consider when looking
to buy cosmetics online, guidance on the safe
storage and use of spa and pool chemicals, and
liquid petroleum gas (LPG) for barbecues, and
alerted consumers to the risks of using potting
mix, following the death of a Christchurch
gardener from Legionnaires’ Disease.
The awareness of, and engagement with, our Safer
Homes Facebook page has also increased over
the past year, with activities including a successful
Christmas campaign that reached more than
12,000 people.

children warned of
chemical danger
Statement of Performance Expectations
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We worked with Consumer New Zealand to
produce a guide to help consumers looking
to dispose of old and unwanted home and
garden chemicals. Leftover chemicals in garden
sheds and garages across New Zealand pose
a significant risk to children, pets, and the
environment. The guide includes information
on chemical storage, banned pesticides, and
an at-a-glance view of disposal facilities around
New Zealand.

Our operations and decision making
are an open book
We have adopted the principle of making
information and data accessible to everyone.
Our Open Book policy means we are
committed to ensuring the detail about the
work we do is easy to access, quick to find,
and can be understood by all audiences,
from a chemical manufacturer who needs to
access it for statutory reasons, to someone
simply wanting to find out more about us.
In providing a greater flow of information and
transparency to stakeholders and the public we
believe we can achieve three things:
• the public’s trust and confidence in us
increases when we provide explanations
about how we have reached decisions
• the public and stakeholders know more about
the depth and scope of our work
• stakeholders and customers understand what
is required of them when they apply to, or
transact with, us.
Progress on our Open Book policy during the
year has included:
• publishing a full report on the findings of our
national investigation into firefighting foams
containing PFOS
• improving our website navigation so that
information is more accessible and easy to find
• working to improve our responses and
information provided in answer to Official
Information Act (OIA) requests
• publishing a selection of OIA requests and
their responses
• publishing our quarterly reports to the Minister
for the Environment and regular reports to the
Associate Minister for the Environment
• publishing new organisms application
proposals and staff assessments, alongside
decision documents
• information on hearings and processes related
to Nationally Significant Proposals
• publishing details of EEZ permitted activities
within known timeframes, enabling all
interested parties to access the details.

Reporting our progress
Regular reporting is an important aspect of being
open and accountable. Every year we publish a
number of comprehensive reports. While these
are a business-as-usual activity, their publication
is an important part of our Open Book approach.
The reports include the following:
• the annual Hazardous Substances Monitoring
Report which showed that, while the
population is increasing, the number of
hospitalisations relating to hazardous
substances is decreasing
• the Annual Report on the Aerial Use of 1080,
which contains detailed information on 50
aerial operations covering 875,000 hectares
of land
• annual reports on our role in the management
of the Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS).

Open Book
means the
detail about
our work
is easy to
access and
understand
Processing applications
and making decisions
Modernising New Zealand’s
chemical regime
This is one of our foundation programmes. Its
aim is to modernise New Zealand’s chemical
management approach. It forms an important
part of our goal of becoming a proactive
regulator, shifting our focus and resources
away from processing to more engagement
and compliance activities and, in the process,
improving transparency and enhancing the
customer experience.

Statement of Performance Expectations
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We are updating how we manage hazardous
substances applications, aligning our process
and priorities with those of our regulatory
partners around the world. We want to
emphasise compliance and monitoring, using
improved systems and processes. This year we
approved business cases for two key areas of
work under the programme:
• an updated hazardous substances
classification system – the Globally
Harmonised System of Classification and
Labelling of Chemicals (GHS)
• replacing our hazardous substances database
to give effect to the new system.

chemicals for reassessment. The result is
that we now have a priority list of around 40
chemicals, which forms the framework for our
programme. Our dedicated team continues to
give momentum to this work.

The current hazardous substances classification
regime was implemented in 2001. Replacing it
with an internationally aligned system will
reduce compliance costs, improve the
international trade environment and deliver
a better customer experience.

We have also initiated a call for information
on products containing synthetic pyrethroids
– insecticides found in some fly sprays,
insect repellents, automatic dispensers, bed
bug treatments, and animal flea collars and
treatments. We have received around 520
responses and are now reviewing and evaluating
the information.

The GHS is an international standard approved
by the United Nations. It replaces the assortment
of hazardous material classification and labelling
schemes previously used around the world. Core
elements of GHS include standardised hazardtesting criteria, universal warning pictograms,
and harmonised safety data sheets, which
provide users of dangerous goods with a wealth
of information.
To support our adoption of GHS, this year we
have been planning and preparing to replace
our current hazardous substances database.
Our aim is to deliver a modern, fit-for-purpose
version, which will become the single source of
truth for all information on our website regarding
hazardous substances, their approval status,
classification, and controls. Such information
is widely used by our staff and customers,
including those overseas.

A focus on reassessments
In October 2018 we held a media and stakeholder
conference announcing our extensive chemical
reassessments programme. Our aim is to keep
New Zealand and New Zealanders safe by
reviewing a number of long-standing chemicals
to ensure risks to people and the environment
continue to be managed effectively.
New science-based evidence, research, and
understanding about chemicals becomes
available every day. Meanwhile new chemistry,
offering more benefits and fewer risks, is
introduced to the market over time.
We have worked to compile a list of around
300 chemicals that merit review. This involved
developing tools to screen and prioritise the

Our first reassessment under the framework
focused on herbicides containing paraquat.
These are of concern because paraquat has
severe effects on human health and aquatic
environments. Having called for public comment
and information about its use, a report on the
information gathered is now being prepared.
Next steps may include a public hearing.

The reassessments programme is extensive.
We continue to look for opportunities to
work collaboratively with stakeholders in
New Zealand’s chemical industry, to lay the
foundations for a modern chemical management
system that protects New Zealand’s environment
and all those who live and work within it.

Mātauranga – incorporating culture,
values, and a world view
Our mātauranga programme is another EPA
multi-year project. Its primary goals are to:
• enable well-informed decision making
• ensure we understand the issues and
implications of mātauranga for our decisionmaking processes
• increase the understanding of mātauranga
among our staff.
Mātauranga can be described as a body of
knowledge that seeks to explain phenomena
by drawing on concepts handed down from
one generation of Māori to another. Each
passing generation makes its own contribution
to mātauranga, so knowledge continues to
accumulate. This is not conceived of as an
archive, but rather a tool for thinking, organising
information, considering the ethics of knowledge,
the appropriateness of it, and informing Māori
about the world and their place in it.
Mātauranga has its own unique characteristics
which are as valid as, but different from,
other knowledge systems, including science.
It incorporates both tangible and intangible
matters and has a strong oral tradition.

Statement of Performance Expectations
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Our mātauranga programme is being delivered in
four phases: Understanding, Gathering, Weaving,
and Enduring. It is being developed and adapted
according to the findings of each phase.
We have developed a pilot programme with
industry to test the mātauranga framework in
some hazardous substances applications where
we are working to establish voluntary agreements
with industry to put in place environmental
management systems that go beyond the
minimum regulatory requirements and contribute
to improved environmental outcomes.
A draft report into the processes and assessment
methodologies that the EPA uses when assessing
risk to native species was completed and circulated
to working group members in June 2019.

Compliance monitoring
and enforcement
Mapping our chemical landscape
As part of our chemical modernisation
programme, this year we have been progressing
our ambitious project aimed at developing a
chemical map for New Zealand. This is a tool
that would enable us to visualise chemical
information, to provide insight for strategic
decision makers, both at the EPA and elsewhere.
Little is currently known about New Zealand’s
chemical landscape or the impact it has on
human and environmental health. A chemical
map will help us and others to:
• make informed decisions about our use of
chemicals across the country
• show the amount and geographical spread of
any given chemical currently in New Zealand
• reflect the international and domestic
regulatory status and information about the
controls (rules) that apply in New Zealand
• provide evidence of acute harm, physical
hazard information, toxicological and
ecotoxicological information, and data about
environmental persistence
• use and exposure information, information about
non-compliance, and location of common use.
Such information will make it easier for us to
give effect to our regulatory role as we
compare New Zealand’s chemical landscape
with other jurisdictions.

Reviewing the hazardous substances
compliance regime
In 2018, we and the Ministry for the Environment
reviewed the hazardous substances compliance

system. This was in direct response to longstanding concerns about non-compliance with
the controls for hazardous substances.
An independent Technical Working Group (TWG)
was convened. Its aim was to analyse the existing
compliance system, decide whether it was fit
for purpose, and recommend improvements
that would minimise the risks posed by
hazardous substances to people’s health and
the environment. The group was also asked to
consider how relevant legislation, particularly the
HSNO Act, the RMA, and the Health and Safety
at Work Act interacted at an operational level.
The TWG’s overarching observation was that
while some elements of the system were robust,
such as the classification and approval regime,
others were not.
The group made 31 recommendations including:
• legal changes to improve compliance,
leadership and clarity of roles across
organisations
• increasing the use and effectiveness of
enforcement officers
• expanding the suite of tools available to
regulatory agencies
• the establishment of a hazardous substances
inventory and database
• reducing complexity
• better sharing the clean-up task between
agencies
• options for building confidence and trust
between the regulatory agencies and
industry.
Giving consideration to the report’s
recommendations will be an important part of
our work next year.

Improving regulatory oversight of the EEZ
As the year came to an end, we completed work
on the development of a proactive programme
aimed at prioritising compliance efforts under
the EEZ Act. This has been developed in a riskbased and responsive way, proportionate to the
risks being managed.
The aim is to tailor compliance and intervention
efforts to ensure we provide the most value
for the regulated community and New Zealand
as a whole.
The programme includes an engagement
strategy to ensure stakeholders contribute to the
protection of the offshore environment through
education on the EEZ and ways in which they can
meet their obligations under the EEZ Act.
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In conclusion
I hope my overview has been helpful in charting
the progress we have made over the past year
towards becoming a proactive environmental
regulator, and in reaching for our vision of an
environment protected, enhancing our way of life
and the economy.

Our target, by 1 July 2021, is to reduce emissions
per full-time equivalent employee. We will do
this by reducing electricity usage by 8 percent,
the amount of paper usage and landfill waste by
15 percent, and emissions resulting from staff
business travel by 8 percent.

For a proactive regulator, it is always a work in
progress. While we are required to meet our
day-to-day responsibilities, we must also be
actively planning for the future. A number of the
initiatives signalled in this report will be part of
our work plan for some time to come.

I look forward to reporting on our progress across
all these initiatives and all our work next year.

We have also taken small steps to reduce our
own carbon footprint by becoming a certified
organisation under the Certified Emissions
Measurement and Reduction Scheme (CEMARS).

Dr Allan Freeth
Chief Executive
Environmental Protection Authority

CASE STUDY

Investigating firefighting foams
In April 2019, we released the findings of our
national investigation into firefighting foams
containing the banned chemical, perfluorooctane
sulfonic acid (PFOS), a persistent organic
pollutant (POP). POPs are stable compounds that
do not readily break down through chemical or
biological processes. They persist for a long time
with consequent damage to the environment and
to human health.
An investigation of this size was a first for the EPA,
having acquired new enforcement powers following
changes to the HSNO Act. These had come into
effect on 1 December 2017, just 19 days before
we announced this investigation. Before this date
we did not have these powers and were unable to
take any enforcement action on non-compliance.
Our investigation was launched after the
New Zealand Defence Force discovered soil
and water contamination at the Ohakea and
Woodbourne airbases in late 2017. The source of
the contamination was thought to be a specialist
type of PFOS-containing firefighting foam. The
foam may have been deployed during emergencies
and training exercises at these airbases.
Our aim was to find out whether firefighting
foams containing PFOS had been imported,
manufactured, used, stored, or disposed of in

New Zealand following their initial restriction in
2006 and outlawing in 2011.
We adopted a risk-based approach to the
investigation, identifying and prioritising at-risk
sites from sector groups across New Zealand.
Our investigators visited or contacted 166 sites,
including 34 commercial airports, 108 sites likely
to store large volumes of hydrocarbon fuels
(ports, refineries and bulk fuel storage, and
petrochemical sites), and 24 ships. Stocks of
foam containing PFOS were uncovered at several
sites, as well as other foam stocks that had been
contaminated with PFOS.
All non-compliant foam was removed and
disposed of in an approved and safe way, so
that it can never be used again. Facilities or
equipment in contact with the foam were
decontaminated and clean-up materials disposed
of appropriately.
No intentional non-compliance was discovered.
Our investigators worked with all parties to
ensure that materials were decommissioned and
stored appropriately and securely, pending their
safe disposal.
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Performance
in 2018/19

02

Statement of performance

This section describes our performance against the measures and targets set out in our Statement of
Performance Expectations 2018/19.
The EPA is funded through a mix of Crown funding and third-party revenue. Crown funding is provided
through three appropriations in Vote Environment:
•
•
•

EPA decision-making functions
EPA monitoring and enforcement functions
Emissions Trading Scheme.

Crown funding by appropriation for the year ended 30 June 2019
In thousands of NZD

Actual
2019

Budget
2019

Actual
2018

EPA decision-making functions

12,383

12,383

12,383

EPA monitoring and enforcement functions

6,742

6,442

6,594

Emissions Trading Scheme

6,392

6,392

6,392

25,517

25,217

25,369

TOTAL FUNDING

Actual Crown funding was $300,000 higher than budget due to a transfer of appropriation from the
Ministry for the Environment for establishment of the RMA enforcement unit.
This section provides summary information on our activities under each appropriation, and then a fuller
statement of the performance achieved, organised under the strategic goals set out in the Statement of
Intent 2016–2020. This report does not show the attribution of measures to specific appropriations, but
those linkages are shown in the Statement of Performance Expectations 2018/19.

Costs and revenue by appropriation for the year ended 30 June 2019

In thousands of NZD

Actual
2019
Costs

Actual
2019
Revenue

Budget
2019
Costs

Budget
2019
Revenue

Actual
2018
Costs

Actual
2018
Revenue

EPA decision-making functions

17,429

15,127

21,691

17,933

18,801

16,024

EPA monitoring and enforcement functions

6,909

6,948

5,888

6,601

5,378

6,748

Emissions Trading Scheme

6,091

6,480

6,385

6,445

6,150

6,482

Total costs/revenue

30,429

28,555

33,964

30,979

30,329

29,254

NET DEFICIT

(1,874)

-

(2,985)

-

(1,075)

-
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In the current year, we had planned to run a
deficit budget operating model of $2.985 million
to cover systems and business improvement
initiatives under our programme of work.
We have shifted from investing in capital
infrastructure to operational investment in
cloud-based systems. For financial reporting
purposes, the implementation costs for cloudbased solutions are expensed in the statement
of comprehensive revenue and expense when
incurred, rather than being capitalised.

The actual net deficit recorded for the year
ended 30 June 2019 was $1.874 million, which
was funded from the EPA’s accumulated
reserves. The EPA intends to continue to
operate at a net deficit for the next few years
in order to help fund the delivery of other
systems and business efficiency projects
under the annual programme of work, while
ensuring that we remain financially sustainable
into the future. Further commentary on the
EPA’s financial results for 2018/19 are included
in the notes to the financial statements.

EPA decision-making functions
Our work under this appropriation is intended to achieve robust and objective environmental decisions,
and transparent and efficient decision making. We strive to make decisions that:
•
•

prevent and/or manage the adverse effects of
hazardous substances or new organisms
fulfil New Zealand’s international obligations
regarding the import, export and use of
ozone-depleting substances, and the transboundary movement of hazardous waste of
international concern

•
•

facilitate sustainable management of natural
and physical resources, with respect to
projects of national significance
facilitate sustainable management of natural
resources in New Zealand’s exclusive
economic zone and continental shelf.

EPA decision-making functions
In thousands of NZD

Actual
2019

Budget
2019

Variance

Actual
2018

Crown funding

12,383

12,383

-

12,383

2,574

5,447

(2,873)

3,466

170

103

67

175

Total revenue

15,127

17,933

(2,806)

16,024

Less expenses

17,429

21,691

(4,262)

18,801

(2,302)

(3,758)

1,456

(2,777)

Fees and charges
Other revenue

NET (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS

Total expenses for the decision-making function were less than budget due to lower activity than
expected for Nationally Significant Proposals and EEZ applications. As some of these expenses are cost
recoverable if incurred, the lower costs also resulted in lower revenue being recorded for the year.
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OUR STAFF

Hannah Davidson
Science Research Assistant

Thanks to the Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa for
permitting us to photograph our staff on the premises.

An important task of our team is to help make
science more accessible to the public.
Science tends to be viewed as some mysterious
back-room practice, understood only by the
practitioners. Instead, it should be a force for
good that engenders people’s trust in decisions,
trust in the scientists’ work that underpins those
decisions, and trust in the regulatory framework
in which they are made.
If we simply ask the public to trust us, and feed
them facts as information, we are completely
underestimating their role in the bigger picture.
This reinforces a wall of privilege that shrouds
science and scientists, and is reflected in the
unhelpful and incorrect “I’m too dumb for
science” perception held by many people.
Generally, people demonstrate that they are
engaged and involved in the issues that affect
them and their communities. If people are
feeling unheard, out of the loop and unsure of
how to get over this wall surrounding science
and scientists, it’s understandable that they will
become frustrated.

Given that the decisions we make, which
are designed to ultimately benefit people,
the environment and the economy, must be
supported by science, it just makes good sense
to soundly communicate the role of science in
decision making.
Good communication is about listening and
speaking to shared values. It is a two-way
process. If we do this, an engaged and informed
public will be encouraged to communicate their
concerns and issues back to us. In turn, this will
help us improve our decision making.
There are many tools we can use to get our
messages across, such as outreach, fostering
better links with resources like the Science
Media Centre, and linking up with other agencies
and scientists to communicate shared issues.
Our team is not alone in grappling with these
issues. Sharing our science is a great way to
contribute to the wider task. I know we are up for
the challenge.
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Hazardous substances, new organisms,
ozone-depleting substances and
hazardous waste
The EPA assesses and makes decisions about
applications regarding hazardous substances
and new organisms under the HSNO Act.
In 2018/19 we:
• provided 159 decisions or advice under Parts
5 and 6A of the Act, including import or
manufacture of substances, transhipment,
reassessments, and amendments to group
standards
• decided 622 applications for import
certificates for explosives and for graphic
materials, in accordance with Part 6
of the Act
• decided 32 applications and statutory
determinations for new organisms under
Part 5 of the Act.
One new organism application was declined, and
one application for grounds for reassessment of
a hazardous substance was declined.
The EPA also regulates the import or export of
hazardous waste under the Imports and Exports
(Restrictions) Act 1988, and the Imports and
Exports (Restrictions) Prohibition Order (No 2),
and of ozone-depleting substances under the
Ozone Layer Protection Act 1996. In 2018/19 we:
• issued 99 permits related to the import,
export or transhipment of hazardous wastes
and asbestos containing products
• issued 38 import or export permits for ozonedepleting substances.
In October 2018, the EPA launched its new priority
chemicals list that will be updated regularly in
light of new scientific data to ensure that the EPA
has both a proactive programme of reassessments
and is also responsive to emerging issues.

Resource management
As part of its regulatory functions, the EPA
manages the decision-making process for
proposals of national significance under the
RMA. These include large infrastructure
projects or public works, major roads, and wind
farms. The EPA facilitates the lodgement and
processing of proposals, including managing
the hearing process for an independent Board
of Inquiry.
The EPA also supports other national decisionmaking processes under the RMA such as
applications for Water Conservation Orders or
Heritage Orders.
This year there were no nationally significant
proposals under way.

The EPA advised the Minister of Conservation about
a request from the Marlborough District Council
and Southland Regional Council to call in coastal
permit applications by New Zealand King Salmon
Ltd for offshore monitoring at locations around
the South Island. Under the RMA, the Minister
for the Environment (and in some instances, the
Minister of Conservation) may call in a proposal if
she or he considers that it is nationally significant,
and can direct it either to a Board of Inquiry, or
the Environment Court to be heard and decided.
The EPA continued to support two Special
Tribunals in their consideration of Water
Conservation Order applications for the
Ngaruroro and Clive Rivers in Hawke’s Bay and
Te Waikoropupū Springs in Tasman. This work
included the facilitation of a two-week hearing
for the Ngaruroro and Clive Rivers application
in February 2019. The Special Tribunal for the
Ngaruroro and Clive Rivers application delivered
its recommendations to the Minister for the
Environment at the end of August 2019.

Exclusive Economic Zone
Under the EEZ Act, the EPA decides applications
for marine consents and rulings for certain
activities such as oil and gas exploration and
production, seabed mining, and dumping of waste.
On 4 October 2018, an EPA decision-making
committee granted a notified marine consent,
subject to conditions, to OMV New Zealand
Limited to discharge offshore processing drainage
from a drilling rig in the South Taranaki Bight.
On 5 February 2019, an EPA decision-making
committee granted consent, subject to
conditions, to Coastal Resources Limited to
dump dredged material at an existing dump site
approximately 25 km east of Aotea/Great Barrier
Island. The decision was subject to an appeal
and judicial review before the High Court in July
2019. The High Court is yet to issue its decision.
In 2018/19, we also delivered:
• one decision to approve non-notified marine
consent for exploration drilling
• two decisions to approve non-notified
discharge consents
• one decision to approve non-notified marine
dumping consent
• three approvals of new emergency spill
response plans
• four approvals of updates to emergency spill
response plans
• work on one notified marine discharge consent
application (still in progress at the year-end)
• support to a Board of Inquiry to
approve notified marine consent for
development drilling.
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EPA monitoring and enforcement functions
Our work under this appropriation relates to achieving compliance with environmental rules through
monitoring and guiding compliance activity to ensure the effective operation of the regulatory framework:
•

under the HSNO Act, the Ozone Layer
Protection Act, the Imports and Exports
(Restrictions) Act, and the Imports and
Exports (Restrictions) Prohibition Order
(No 2), jointly with other agencies, such as
the New Zealand Customs Service

•

•

under the EEZ Act, with the requirements
of regulations, and any conditions of marine
consents, and maintaining the regulatory
framework, and regulatory stewardship
in anticipation of changes to the RMA, the
establishment of an enforcement unit within
the EPA.

EPA monitoring and enforcement functions
Actual
2019

Budget
2019

Variance

Actual
2018

6,742

6,442

300

6,594

Fees and charges

118

105

13

61

Other revenue

88

54

34

93

Total revenue

6,948

6,601

347

6,748

Less expenses

6,909

5,888

1,021

5,378

39

713

(674)

1,370

In thousands of NZD

Crown funding

NET (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS

Variances to budget include $300,000 of additional Crown funding from a transfer of appropriation
from the Ministry for the Environment for establishment of the RMA enforcement unit. Expenses
were higher than budget due to corresponding costs for the RMA enforcement unit, and additional
compliance activity conducted during the year.

Hazardous substances, new organisms,
ozone-depleting substances and
hazardous waste compliance

•

In 2018/19, we conducted 34 inspections as part
of the monitoring and inspection programme
focused on importers and manufacturers of
hazardous substances, particularly of agricultural
compounds, surface coatings and colourants,
cleaning compounds and solvents.

•

Other compliance activities related to hazardous
substances included:
• developing an audit programme to monitor
the powers delegated to Medical Officers of
Health and Health Protection Officers
• progressing work with local authorities to
clarify roles and responsibilities, including
developing high-level guidance material
• visiting nine value stores during the year,
identifying the importers of certain cosmetic
products, and ensuring the requirements
of the Cosmetic Group Standard were met.
A number of importers were identified and
transferred to the inspection programme for
formal inspection

•

publishing the EPA Annual Report on Aerial
1080 Operations
publishing the Annual HSNO Enforcement
Report
conducting six investigations under the
Ozone Layer Protection Act.

34

inspections
of hazardous
substances
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Exclusive Economic Zone compliance
In 2018/19, we monitored 11 marine consents,
four rulings, six Emergency Spill Response Plans,
and 24 permitted activities. Our monitoring
and inspections did not identify any significant
adverse events in the EEZ. We inspected eight
oil and gas installations over six inspections, a
dumping operation, and a permitted activity.
We identified 13 non-conformities and made a
further 44 observations for improvement.
We monitored compliance with reports and
plans required to be submitted to the EPA. This
included 116 for oil and gas operators and 108 for
dredge operators.
We investigated 11 spills of harmful substances,
responding with written advice or warnings, and
six incidents relating to dumping operations,
some of which are ongoing. Advice was issued
to two operators following the late submission of
required notifications.
Certain activities, such as marine scientific
research, exploration and prospecting, are
permitted activities under the EEZ Act, but they
are nevertheless subject to rules and conditions
that the EPA monitors for compliance. We
granted six waivers to timeframes under the
permitted activities and declined one.
We issued our first abatement notice to an oil
and gas operator, relating to an unauthorised
discharge of harmful substances contained
in offshore processing drainage. A followup inspection at a later date showed that
the operator’s process was meeting the
requirements of the EEZ Act, and the notice was
then cancelled.
We approved the disposal at sea of sediment
from several source sites around Auckland.
We implemented and continued developing the EEZ
compliance programme, prioritising our approach
and frequency of inspection, according to risk.
We changed the way we conduct compliance
inspections to a proactive regulatory compliance
approach. We now identify and investigate any
instances of non-compliance, and follow up to
ensure they are corrected.

During the year, we also provided compliance
advice on numerous marine consent applications,
developed and implemented a dynamic health
and safety risk training course for field staff, and
continued to support a regular forum of local and
central government regulators and industry.

RMA enforcement unit
An interim RMA enforcement unit was established
within the EPA. It is anticipated that the EPA will
have enforcement powers under the RMA to
support or intervene with council investigations.
The unit is developing its capability, engaging
with external stakeholders, as well as crafting
a number of supporting policies, processes,
and templates. We worked with the Ministry
for the Environment and staff from regional
councils and unitary authorities on the design
and strategy of the unit.

Maintaining the regulatory framework
This area of work covers:
• reviewing and maintaining EPA-administered
regulatory instruments
• facilitating Māori involvement in the EPA’s
regulatory activities
• supporting effective regulation, including
access to science, knowledge and
information, public information and
education, and partnerships
• contributing to New Zealand’s involvement
in international agreements relating to
regulatory areas for which the EPA is
responsible, including the:
−− Basel Convention and Waigani Convention
(covering hazardous waste)
−− Cartagena Protocol (covering trade in
living modified organisms)
−− London Convention (dumping at sea)
−− Montreal Protocol (phasing out ozonedepleting substances)
−− Rotterdam Convention (transboundary
trade in specified hazardous chemicals)
−− Stockholm Convention (phasing out
persistent organic pollutants)
−− United Nations Framework Convention on
Climate Change (UNFCCC).

We contributed to other business processes and
development including:
• development and implementation of the
all-of-government Model Standards for
Information Gathering
• identifying the requirements for a compliance
monitoring and enforcement data
management system.
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Review, maintenance and development
of regulatory instruments

Facilitating Māori involvement
in regulatory activities

As noted in the 2017/18 Annual Report
(page 30), amendments were made to the
Hazardous Substances (Importers and
Manufacturers) Notice 2015 and fees set
under section 21 of the HSNO Act. Both
amendments came into effect on
1 October 2018. Consultation on these
amendments occurred in 2017/18.

The EPA facilitates Māori involvement in
our regulatory activities in a number of ways,
and includes:
• iwi and hapū members of our Te Herenga
network receiving e-newsletters
on the issues, and engaging with
industry and the EPA on applications
or issues under consideration
• Te Herenga participation, together with other
government agencies and industry, in the
Native and Surrogate Species Project, which
has considered whether overseas data on
the effects of hazardous substances can be
reliably used to assess the possible effect on
New Zealand native species
• notification of iwi authorities, customary
marine title groups, and protected customary
rights groups that the EPA considers may be
affected by an activity in the EEZ.

Following public consultation in June 2018,
amendments were made to Schedule 2A of
the HSNO Act and under the Imports and
Exports (Restrictions) Prohibition Order (No 2)
2004 to add new persistent organic pollutants
listed under the Stockholm and Rotterdam
Conventions, including decabromodiphenyl
ether, which has widely been used as a fire
retardant in electrical and electronic equipment,
pipes, textiles, and sealants.

Emissions Trading Scheme
New Zealand’s Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS) supports and encourages global efforts to reduce
the emission of greenhouse gases by:
•
•

assisting New Zealand to meet its international
obligations under the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change
assisting New Zealand to meet its three current
greenhouse gas emissions reductions targets:
−− an unconditional 2020 target to reduce
emissions to 5 percent below 1990 levels
−− a 2030 target to reduce emissions to 30
percent below 2005 levels
−− a 2050 target to reduce emissions to 50
percent below 1990 levels.

Under this appropriation the EPA is responsible
for implementing, operating and administering
the ETS. We also operate the New Zealand
Emissions Trading Register (the Register). These
activities allow the carbon market to operate.

Emissions Trading Scheme
In thousands of NZD

Actual
2019

Budget
2019

Variance

Actual
2018

Crown funding

6,392

6,392

-

6,392

Other revenue

88

53

35

90

Total revenue

6,480

6,445

35

6,482

Less expenses

6,091

6,385

(294)

6,150

NET SURPLUS

389

60

329

332
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ETS Operations
Managing the Register

Managing the ETS

The Register is New Zealand’s national means
of holding emissions units and trading them
nationally and internationally. Private account
holders in the Register currently hold more than
$3 billion worth of emissions units that can be used
to meet future ETS obligations, or for investments.
As such, it is a key focus of the EPA to ensure
the ETS operates with a high level of security
and integrity, and that account holders can have
confidence that their assets are securely held in
the Register.

This year we made significant improvements
to the industrial allocation application process,
making it easier to apply for an allocation, and to
receive units in a timely manner.

In the past 12 months:
• approximately 108 million units were
transferred between private accounts in
the Register
• 33 million units were surrendered by
participants to meet ETS obligations
• 17 million of those 33 million units were
surrendered on behalf of participants who
chose to use the fixed price option to meet
some or all of their ETS obligations
• 13 million units were transferred for removal
activities, and 8 million units were allocated
to account holders.
The Register has been secure and robust:
• customers were able to access the system at
all times to complete their obligations under
the ETS, with no unscheduled interruptions
to service
• there were no successful intrusion attempts
into the Register.

We have also worked closely with the Ministry
for the Environment, Ministry for Primary
Industries, and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs
and Trade, as well as other agencies, on the
proposed policy changes to the ETS.
Management of the ETS extends to ensuring
participating enterprises are compliant with the
rules. In line with this, we have carried out site
visits to oil and gas enterprises in Taranaki, and
a coal mining enterprise in Waikato. Through our
annual programme of proactive compliance, we
completed 13 independent audits and four desktop
reviews of participants from a variety of sectors.

ETS policy
We contributed operational expertise and
feedback on the workability and implementation
of policy options being considered in the ETS
review. In particular, we led work to improve the
compliance and penalties regime in the ETS.

million units
transferred
between private
accounts

Performance in 2018/19 | 27

Performance measures
The EPA’s 2016–2020 Statement of Intent
provided a set of indicators and measures of
effectiveness in respect of each of our goals and
strategic intentions. The 2018/19 Statement of
Performance Expectations confirmed 27 targets
for those performance measures.
Twelve of the performance measures set in 2016
depended upon results from an annual customer
survey. However, a number of difficulties have
emerged over the past three years with the
customer survey. Customer response rates
have been low and declining every year. This
reflects the difficult challenge in conducting a
single complex survey at the end of each year
of many customers who have had very different
interactions with the EPA, at varying times during
the course of the preceding 12-month period.
Particular problems arose with the 2019 survey,
when, in addition to a low overall response rate
of 13 percent, very low response rates from some
groups of customers meant that in most cases no
statistically robust results were recorded. As a
direct consequence, the result for a large number

of survey questions is subject to a relatively
high margin of error greater than the accuracy
threshold of +/– 5 percent which is typically
applied to public sector surveys. Therefore, for
certain measures, we are unable to report the
result with any reasonable degree of accuracy.
Where this is the case, we have indicated the
actual target achieved as “not reportable”, and
the 2017/18 results may be considered to be
indicative of our performance.
This is the final year in which the EPA will
be using a single annual customer survey to
determine the achievement of performance
measures. All performance measures were
reviewed during 2018/19, and a new set of
measures have been developed for the 2019–
2023 Statement of Intent, with targets set in the
2019/20 Statement of Performance Expectations.
Apart from the survey-based measures,
which were not reportable, the majority of
performance targets were either achieved or
on track to achieve.

Goal: People have trust and confidence in our work
Strategic intention: Increase the trust of the nation, Māori, and business through decision making
based on science, evidence, mātauranga Māori, and risk assessment.
Aside from the survey-based measures, which were not reportable, internal audit checks confirmed the
overall robustness of most EPA decision-making processes. The EPA will continue to measure feedback
and track public trust and confidence.
Measure

Target

Actual
2018/19

Target
achieved

Actual
2017/18

New Zealanders trust the impartiality and transparency of the EPA’s activities
New Zealanders have trust
and confidence in the EPA

By 30 June 2019,
greater than 75%

62%1

Not achieved

69%

Customers trust in the integrity
and security of the NZETR and
ETS systems and processes

By 30 June 2019,
greater than 85%

Not
reportable2

Not
reportable

71%

1	Information on New Zealanders’ awareness of the EPA is
obtained from Research New Zealand’s Public Sector Trust and
Confidence Survey.

2	Given the low number of customers who responded to the
survey, the result is subject to a relatively high margin of
error. Therefore, we are unable to report the result with any
reasonable degree of accuracy.
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Measure

Target

Applicants and submitters
(HSNO/RMA/EEZ), and Ngā
Kaihautū, Te Herenga, Iwi,
and Māori have trust and
confidence in the EPA

By 30 June 2019, 80%

HSNO and EEZ decisionmaking processes are
robust and objective5

Applicants and submitters agree
that information on the main
factors taken into account in
EPA decisions made (HSNO/
RMA/EEZ), and how these
influenced the decisions, is clear
to understand and easy to access

100% of a sample of decisions
meet agreed criteria6

From 1 July 2018, 85%

Actual
2018/19

Target
achieved

Actual
2017/18

Applicants
and
submitters:
48%3

Not achieved

Applicants
and
submitters:
55%

Māori:
Not
reportable4

Not
reportable

Māori: 55%

Hazardous
substances
decisions:
77%7

Not achieved

Hazardous
substances
decisions:
66%

New
Organisms
decisions:
100%

Achieved

New
Organisms
decisions:
100%

EEZ
decisions:
100%

Achieved

EEZ
decisions:
100%

Not
reportable4

Not
reportable

Applicants:
50%
Submitters:
37%

The EPA is regarded as contributing effectively across all-of-government or sector-specific initiatives
Positive feedback from
Ministers and central and
local government agencies
on the EPA’s leadership and
contributions, to both sectorwide government work and
responding to specific queries

Minimum sample of 25
contacted annually with at least
80% positive feedback

82%

Achieved

87%

41%8

Not achieved

46%

New Zealanders are aware of the EPA’s role and purpose
New Zealanders consider they
know a reasonable amount
about what the EPA does

From 1 July 2018, 50%

3	Given the low number of customers who responded to the
survey, this result is subject to a maximum margin of error that
is slightly above the accuracy threshold. Therefore, the result is
indicative rather than conclusive.
4	Given the low number of customers who responded to the
survey, the result is subject to a relatively high margin of
error. Therefore, we are unable to report the result with any
reasonable degree of accuracy.
5	The decisions themselves are not reviewed as part of this
measure, only the processes surrounding them.

6	The results are based on a judgemental, risk-based sample,
with a sample of 13 completed HS applications tested from a
population of 159, a sample of six completed NO applications
from a population of 33, and three EEZ applications from a
population of five.
7	Overall compliance for the total population of 159 applications
was 98 percent. The sample of hazardous substances
applications for this measure includes the three applications
already internally identified as non-compliant.
8	Information on New Zealanders’ awareness of the EPA is
obtained from Research New Zealand’s Public Sector Trust and
Confidence Survey.
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Goal: Delivery of the right decisions cost effectively
Strategic intention: Improve operational performance, including through enhanced EPA systems, and
customer experiences.
Aside from the survey-based measures, which were not-reportable, the ongoing programmes to
improve operational efficiency have proceeded according to plan.
Measure

Actual
2018/19

Target

Target
achieved

Actual
2017/18

Customers are satisfied with the overall level of service provided by the EPA
A customer-centricity
programme is in place and is
reflected in business processes

From 1 October 2016 to 30
June 2020, implementation
of milestones as defined
in the programme

Milestones
implemented

Achieved

Strategies
implemented

By 30 June 2020, evaluation
of programme after 3 years’
implementation

On track to
achieve

On track to
achieve

New target

EPA customers agree:
• our overall level of
service provided meets
or exceeds expectations
• our information is easy
or very easy to access
• our information is easy or
very easy to understand
• it is easy or very easy
to contact us

From 1 July 2018, 85%

53%9

Not achieved

61%

Applicants (HSNO/RMA/
EEZ) agree that the advice,
information and support
provided to assist their
participation in the application
process meets or exceeds
their expectations

From 1 July 2018, 85%

Not
reportable10

Not
reportable

56%

Submitters (HSNO/RMA/EEZ)
agree that the information
and support provided to
assist their participation in the
application process meets or
exceeds their expectations

From 1 July 2018, 85%

Not
reportable10

Not
reportable

62%

Users agree that the overall
quality of ETS service
delivery meets or exceeds
their expectations

From 1 July 2018, 85%

Not
reportable10

Not
reportable

78%

A programme of process
reviews is in place to
identify efficiencies

From 1 October 2016 to 30
June 2020, implementation
of milestones as defined
in the programme

On track to
achieve

On track to
achieve

New target

9	Given the low number of customers who responded to the
survey, this result is subject to a maximum margin of error that
is slightly above the accuracy threshold. Therefore, the result is
indicative rather than conclusive.

10	Given the low number of customers who responded to the
survey, the result is subject to a relatively high margin of error.
Therefore we are unable to report the result with any reasonable
degree of accuracy.
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Measure

Target

Actual
2018/19

Target
achieved

Actual
2017/18

Undertaking our obligations to Māori, statutory and other, through our He Whetū Mārama framework
Māori agree:
• they are aware or very
aware of opportunities to
participate in EPA functions
• our overall level of service
provided meets or exceeds
expectations
• our information is easy or
very easy to access
• our information is easy or
very easy to understand
• it is easy or very easy to
contact us

From 1 July 2018, 85%

Not
reportable11

Not
reportable

Average 59%

Customers are satisfied with the quality of online services
Customers agree that where
online transactions can be made
with the EPA, it is easy or very
easy to carry these out

From 1 July 2018,
increasing trend

Not
reportable11

Not
reportable

57% agreed

New Zealanders who found
information that met their needs
on the EPA’s website, in the last
12 months

From 1 July 2018,
increasing trend

Not
reportable11

Not
reportable

52% agreed

Goal: Protection of people and the environment in partnership with businesses, Māori,
and the community
Strategic Intention: Contribute effectively to the government environmental, wellbeing, and economic
outcomes and results
Measure

Target

Actual
2018/19

Target
achieved

Actual
2017/18

The impacts of hazardous substances on the environment are understood and reduced
A hazardous substances
modernisation programme is
identified and agreed

From 1 October 2016 to 30
June 2020, implementation
of milestones, as defined
in the programme

On track to
achieve

On track to
achieve

New target

11	Given the low number of customers who responded to the
survey, the result is subject to a relatively high margin of error.
Therefore we are unable to report the result with any reasonable
degree of accuracy.
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Measure

Target

Actual
2018/19

Target
achieved

Actual
2017/18

Achieve compliance with the approvals, consents, regulations, rules, and EPA Notices that we are responsible
for monitoring
Hazardous substances
importers and manufacturers,
and EEZ compliance and
enforcement programmes
are identified and agreed

From 1 October 2016 to 30
June 2020, implementation
of milestones, as defined
in the programme

HS –
Completed
six targeted
campaigns
EEZ –
Completed 10
inspections,
exceeding
the eight that
were planned

Achieved

New target

ETS data integrity ensures
that participants and account
holders are able to be contacted
appropriately, they are aware
of changes as they relate to
the ETS or the carbon market,
and they are able to undertake
legitimate transactions

98% of participant registrations
and account applications are
accurately recorded in the
NZETR within two business
days of receipt of a properly
completed application

100%

Achieved

100%

Voluntary agreements in place
with industry on achieving
environmental management
systems, or similar, that are in
line with modern international
practices, go beyond minimum
regulatory requirements, and
are contributing to improved
environmental outcomes

By 30 June 2019, a new
voluntary agreement is in place

Mātauranga
programme

Achieved

New target

With partners and stakeholders, we are contributing to reducing harm from the storage and use of hazardous
substances in the home
Feedback from key agencies
involved in the promotion of
consumer health and safety
demonstrates EPA’s consumer
harm reduction information is
more accessible and effective

Positive feedback on
whether information is more
accessible and effective,
with increasing trend

Positive
feedback
received

Achieved

Positive
feedback
received

Agreements in place with:
• agencies dealing with
families and the wider
community, such as Plunket,
Māori Women’s Welfare
League, Housing NZ, and
• industry, on joint initiatives
for promoting the better
use, storage and disposal
of hazardous substances

By 30 June 2019, a new
agreement is in place

No new
formal
agreements

Not achieved

New target
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Measure

Target

Actual
2018/19

Target
achieved

Actual
2017/18

New organisms, bio-control agents, or hazardous substances can be demonstrated to have contributed to a
reduction in pests and/or weeds, and have not become a pest or weed
No incidences have been
reported of EPA-approved
new organisms having become
a pest, weed, or disease

Zero incidents reported
and trend of no change

Zero
incidents
reported

Achieved

Zero
incidents
reported

New organisms, bio-control
or hazardous substances
significantly reduce
pests and/or weeds

Demonstrated by available
monitoring information

Available
monitoring
information
indicates
benefits

Achieved

New target

Iwi/hapū are consistently enabled to give effect to kaitiakitanga
In collaboration with the
Native Species Working
Group (industry, Māori,
other government) undertake
re-evaluation of how native
threatened species are taken
into consideration in hazardous
substances risk assessment

By 1 December 2018, report
completed showing how
consideration of our native
threatened and endangered
species is taken into account
in hazardous substances
risk assessment

Draft report
completed
June 2019

Not achieved

New
measure

Undertake shared projects
with Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga
Taiao, Te Herenga, and
Iwi on particular areas of
Māori interest in our work

At least 1 project initiated per
year, and projects completed in
accordance with the project plan

Included in
mātauranga
programme

Achieved

New target

Responsible for monitoring around

150,000
hazardous substances
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OUR STAFF

Emily Chau
Hazardous Substances Compliance Senior Advisor

I trained as a pharmacist, supporting people’s
health. Often I felt like the ambulance at the
bottom of the cliff when medical intervention
was needed to help them back to good health.
Helping to protect the environment and the
world we live in is not so different to preventative
healthcare – creating the kind of healthy
environment that supports a nation’s wellbeing.
Hazardous substances are all around us, in
everyday products from dishwashing detergent
to mouthwash.
There are more than 150,000 hazardous
substances in New Zealand. Their regulation
is extremely complex, with many government
agencies playing a part. It’s important that we
work together to ensure positive outcomes.
Our approvals team is made up of scientists,
toxicologists, and ecotoxicologists – all using
their skills and expertise to work out the risks and
hazards associated with hazardous substances.
They ensure evidence-based science informs
decisions to approve or decline hazardous
substance applications.

Even when something is approved, rules are
usually put in place to ensure it is used and
managed safely. The job of our compliance team
is to ensure that the rules are being followed.
The compliance team is out and about
inspecting businesses that sell, import or make
hazardous substances. We go all over
New Zealand to verify whether chemicals are
being used in line with the rules.
Most recently, we have been checking cosmetics
sold in discount stores to confirm whether
their ingredients comply with the rules for
cosmetics and toiletries. This is important work
because these products are intended to be
applied directly to the body, and are available to
young and to vulnerable people who should be
protected from harm.
Our science plays a key role in protecting people
and the environment in a way that doesn’t
compromise economic growth and jobs. It’s a
delicate balancing act. I’m proud of what we do.
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Financial statements

Statement of comprehensive revenue and expenses
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Actual
2019

Budget
2019

Actual
2018

Funding from the Crown

25,517

25,217

25,369

Other revenue

3,038

5,762

3,885

4

28,555

30,979

29,254

6

18,445

17,573

16,597

Boards and committees remuneration

13

341

312

280

EEZ decision-making committee remuneration

13

189

516

141

199

369

663

In thousands of NZD

Notes

Revenue

Total revenue

Expenses
Personnel costs

Boards of Inquiry remuneration and special tribunal fees
Depreciation and amortisation expense

8

1,300

1,456

1,458

Other expenses

5

9,955

13,738

11,190

Total expenses

30,429

33,964

30,329

Net deficit for the year

(1,874)

(2,985)

(1,075)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSES

(1,874)

(2,985)

(1,075)

Notes

Actual
2019

Budget
2019

Actual
2018

11

13,397

13,510

14,472

(1,874)

(2,985)

(1,075)

11,523

10,525

13,397

Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2019
In thousands of NZD

Balance at 1 July
Net deficit for the year
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE

11

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2019
In thousands of NZD

Notes

Actual
2019

Budget
2019

Actual
2018

12

2,849

1,941

2,704

7,12

290

171

482

12

6,000

6,000

7,000

148

140

239

9,287

8,252

10,425

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Short-term deposits
Prepayments
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

8

721

679

898

Intangible assets

8

4,599

4,595

5,275

5,320

5,274

6,173

14,607

13,526

16,598

9,12

1,803

1,547

1,841

10

1,010

1,239

1,047

5

70

71

71

2,883

2,857

2,959

10

131

75

101

5

70

69

141

201

144

242

Total liabilities

3,084

3,001

3,201

Net assets

11,523

10,525

13,397

11,523

10,525

13,397

11,523

10,525

13,397

Total non-current assets
Total assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Payables
Employee entitlements
Lease incentives
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Employee entitlements
Lease incentives
Total non-current liabilities

Equity
General fund
TOTAL EQUITY

11

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Notes

Actual
2019

Budget
2019

Actual
2018

4

25,517

25,217

25,369

291

210

211

2,939

5,542

6,073

Payments to suppliers

(11,285)

(14,785)

(12,913)

Payments to employees

(17,889)

(17,570)

(15,823)

23

31

(17)

(404)

(1,355)

2,900

7,000

7,000

5,000

(181)

(225)

(214)

Purchase of intangible assets

(270)

(150)

(89)

Investments in term deposits

(6,000)

(5,000)

(7,000)

Net cash flows from investing activities

549

1,625

(2,303)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

145

270

597

2,704

1,671

2,107

2,849

1,941

2,704

In thousands of NZD

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from the Crown
Interest received
Receipts from other revenue

Goods and services tax (net)
Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts from maturity of term deposits
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR

12

Reconciliation of net deficit with net cash flows from
operating activities
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Actual
2019

Budget
2019

Actual
2018

(1,874)

(2,985)

(1,075)

1,300

1,456

1,458

(40)

23

(38)

1,260

1,479

1,420

Losses on disposal of intangibles, property, plant and
equipment

3

-

155

Total items classified as investing activities

3

-

155

207

151

2,400

(404)

(1,355)

2,900

In thousands of NZD

Notes

Net deficit for the year
Add/(less) non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense
(Gains)/losses on movement of provisions
Total items classified as non-cash items

8

Add/(less) items classified as investing activities

Add/(less) net movements in working capital items
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Reporting entity
The Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) is a
Crown Agent as defined by the Crown Entities Act
2004 and is domiciled and operates in New Zealand.
The EPA was established under the Environmental
Protection Authority Act 2011. The EPA’s ultimate
parent is the New Zealand Crown (Crown).
The EPA has responsibility for regulatory
functions concerning New Zealand’s
environmental management. These include
national consenting under the Resource
Management Act 1991, management of the
New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme and
Register, regulation of hazardous substances,
new organisms, ozone-depleting chemicals,
hazardous waste exports and imports,
assessment of environmental effects in
Antarctica, and managing the environmental
effects of activities in the Exclusive Economic
Zone and Continental Shelf.
The EPA has designated itself as a public benefit
entity (PBE) for financial reporting purposes.
The financial statements for the EPA are for the
year ended 30 June 2019, and were approved by
the Board on 31 October 2019.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis.

a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the
Crown Entities Act 2004 and with New Zealand
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (NZ
GAAP). They comply with the PBE Accounting
Standards as appropriate for Tier 1 Public Sector
public benefit entities.

b) F
 unctional and presentation currency
and rounding
The financial statements are presented in
New Zealand Dollars (NZD) and all amounts have
been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless
otherwise indicated.

2. Summary of significant
accounting policies
Significant accounting policies are included
in the notes to which they relate. Significant
accounting policies that do not relate to a
specific note are outlined below. There have

been no changes to accounting policies, and
the accounting policies have been applied
consistently throughout the year.

a) Goods and services tax (GST)
Items in the financial statements are presented
exclusive of GST, except for receivables and
payables, which are stated on a GST-inclusive basis.
Where GST is not recoverable as input tax, it is
recognised as part of the related asset or expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or
payable to, Inland Revenue (IRD) is included as
part of receivables or payables in the statement
of financial position.
The net GST paid to or received from the IRD,
including the GST relating to investing and
financing activities, is classified as an operating
cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

b) Income tax
The EPA is a public authority and consequently
is exempt from the payment of income tax.
Accordingly, no provision has been made for
income tax.

c) Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the
Statement of Performance Expectations as
approved by the Board at the beginning of the
financial year. The budget figures have been
prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using
accounting policies that are consistent with
those adopted by the Board in preparing these
financial statements.

d) Standard early adopted
In line with the Financial Statements of the
Government, the EPA has elected to early adopt
PBE IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which has
replaced PBE IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. Financial assets
which were previously classified as “loans
and receivables” under PBE IPSAS 29 were
changed to the classification of “financial assets
at amortised cost” under the new standard.
The accounting policy relating to the
impairment of receivables was changed
from the ‘incurred credit loss model’ to the
‘expected credit loss model’. However, there
were no financial impacts resulting from this
change in accounting policy. There were no
further impacts on these financial statements
from the early adoption of PBE IFRS 9.
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e) S
 tandards issued and not yet effective,
and not early adopted
The following new or amended standards have
been issued, but not yet effective as at reporting
date. The EPA has not assessed the effects of
these changes, but does not expect the changes
to result in any significant impacts on these
financial statements. The EPA intends to adopt
the new and amended standards when they
become effective:
• amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of
Cash Flows, effective for reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021
• PBE FRS 48 Service Performance Reporting,
effective for reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2021
• PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments, effective
for reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022

3. Use of critical judgements and estimates
In preparing these financial statements,
management has made judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of
the EPA’s accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to
estimates are recognised prospectively. None of
the judgements, estimates and assumptions are
considered critical for these financial statements.

4. Revenue
In thousands of NZD

2019

2018

261

2,260

1,786

844

298

222

49

137

2,394

3,463

25,517

25,369

Hazardous substances application fees

544

322

New organisms application fees

100

100

26,161

25,791

28,555

29,254

Revenue from exchange transactions
Resource Management Act cost recovery fees
Exclusive Economic Zone cost recovery fees
Interest income
Other fees and revenue
Total revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Funding from the Crown

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions
TOTAL REVENUE
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Accounting policies

Revenue from exchange and
non-exchange transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions are
transactions in which the EPA receives cash,
and directly gives approximately equal value,
normally in the form of services, to another
entity in exchange. Revenue from non-exchange
transactions are those where the EPA receives
cash from another entity without directly
exchanging approximately equal value. The EPA’s
significant items of revenue are as follows.

a) Provision of services
Services provided to third parties under the
Hazardous Substances and New Organisms
(HSNO) Act in accordance with the EPA’s
published fees and charges schedule are treated
as non-exchange transactions as the fees
and charges do not reflect the actual cost of
producing the services. Services provided to third
parties on commercial or full cost recovery terms
e.g. in relation to the Resource Management

Act (RMA) and Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ)
are treated as exchange transactions. Revenue
from the provision of services are recognised by
reference to their stage of completion.

b) Funding from the Crown
The EPA is primarily funded by the Crown. This
funding is restricted in its use for the purpose of
the EPA meeting the objectives specified in its
founding legislation and the scope of the relevant
Crown appropriations. The EPA considers
there are no conditions attached to the funding
and it is recognised as revenue at the point of
entitlement. This is considered to be the start of
the appropriation period to which the funding
relates. The fair value of revenue from the Crown
has been determined to be equivalent to the
amounts due in the funding arrangements.

c) Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised by accruing on
a time proportion basis the interest due for the
short-term deposit.

5. Other expenses
In thousands of NZD

2019

2018

104

74

Operating lease expenses

1,273

1,154

Consultancy costs

3,947

5,172

709

829

Other expenses

3,922

3,961

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES

9,955

11,190

Audit fees – financial statements audit

Travel costs

Audit fees for 2019 include additional fees of $30,000 for the 2016/17 audit.
Other expenses include expenses for computing and telecommunications, office stationery,
publications, office maintenance and impairment loss on assets.

Operating leases as a lessee
The EPA’s operating lease commitments relate
to the lease of the premises, in which five floors
are occupied with two rights of renewal to 2027,
and car parks. The future aggregate minimum
lease payments to be paid under non-cancellable
operating leases are as follows.
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In thousands of NZD

2019

2018

Not later than one year

1,397

1,397

Later than one year and not later than five years

1,397

2,793

-

-

2,794

4,190

2019

2018

Accommodation lease – current

70

71

Accommodation lease – non-current

70

141

140

212

2019

2018

17,488

15,416

429

383

(7)

145

535

653

18,445

16,597

Later than five years
TOTAL NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASES

Lease incentive
In thousands of NZD

TOTAL LEASE INCENTIVE

There are no restrictions placed on EPA by its leasing arrangements.

Accounting policy
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an asset to the lessee. Lease
payments under an operating lease are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Lease incentives received are recognised
in the surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental
expense over the lease term.

6. Personnel costs
In thousands of NZD

Notes

Salaries and wages
Employer contributions to defined contribution plans
Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements
Other staff-related costs
TOTAL PERSONNEL COSTS

10

Accounting policies
a) Salaries and wages
Salaries and wages are recognised as an expense
as employees provide services.

b) Defined contribution plans
The EPA’s contributions to defined contribution
plans are expensed in surplus or deficit as incurred.

Employee remuneration and other benefits
The number of employees who have received
remuneration and other benefits in excess of
$100,000 in bands of $10,000 are disclosed in
the table on the following page.
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In NZD/number of employees

2019

2018

100,000 – 109,999

10

8

110,000 – 119,999

7

5

120,000 – 129,999

4

5

130,000 – 139,999

4

4

140,000 – 149,999

4

9

150,000 – 159,999

5

-

170,000 – 179,999

-

3

180,000 – 189,999

-

2

190,000 – 199,999

4

1

200,000 – 209,999

2

1

220,000 – 229,999

2

-

250,000 – 259,999

-

1

400,000 – 409,999

-

1

440,000 – 449,999

1

-

43
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Total value of remuneration and other benefits paid or payable

TOTAL EMPLOYEES

During the year ended 30 June 2019, two employees received a total of $52,392 in compensation or
other benefits in relation to cessation of employment (2018: five employees, total $143,853). This is
reported as other staff-related costs.

7. Receivables
In thousands of NZD

2019

2018

144

188

Receivables from other activities (non-exchange transactions)

-

8

Less provision for impairment

-

-

144

196

Other receivables

95

241

Accrued interest

51

45

290

482

Receivables from provision of services (exchange transactions)

Net receivables

TOTAL RECEIVABLES

Accounting policies
Receivables are measured initially at fair value
and subsequently recorded at the amount due,
less an allowance for credit losses. The EPA
applies the simplified expected credit loss model
of recognising lifetime expected credit losses
for receivables. In measuring expected credit
losses, receivables have been assessed on a
collective basis as they possess shared credit risk
characteristics. They have been grouped based
on the days past due. Receivables are written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of

recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include the debtor being
in liquidation.

Previous accounting policy for
impairment of receivables
In the previous year, the allowance for credit
losses was based on the incurred credit loss
model. An allowance for credit losses was
recognised only when there was objective
evidence that the amount due would not be
fully collected.

Performance in 2018/19 | 42

Judgements
Provision for impairment of receivables
All receivables older than 30 days are considered
to be past due. There was no provision for
impairment of receivables at reporting date
(2018: Nil). Management believes that other
unimpaired amounts that are past due by more
than 30 days are still collectible in full, based
on the facts and circumstances surrounding the
overdue amounts.

8. Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

Computer
hardware

Furniture,
fittings
and office
equipment

Leasehold
improvements

Capital work
in progress

Total

1,202

1,376

1,515

40

4,133

Additions

58

12

72

3

145

Disposals

(194)

-

-

-

(194)

Transfers

40

-

-

(40)

-

1,106

1,388

1,587

3

4,084

Additions

162

18

-

-

180

Disposals

(139)

-

-

-

(139)

Transfers

3

-

-

(3)

-

1,132

1,406

1,587

-

4,125

Balance at 1 July 2017

994

1,108

810

-

2,912

Depreciation

128

168

172

-

468

(194)

-

-

-

(194)

928

1,276

982

-

3,186

116

63

176

-

355

(137)

-

-

-

(137)

907

1,339

1,158

-

3,404

At 1 July 2017

208

268

705

40

1,221

At 30 June 2018

178

112

605

3

898

AT 30 JUNE 2019

225

67

429

-

721

In thousands of NZD

Costs
Balance at 1 July 2017

Balance at 30 June 2018

Balance at 30 June 2019
Accumulated depreciation

Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2018
Depreciation
Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2019
Carrying amounts
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Intangible assets
Computer
software

Capital work
in progress

Total

15,168

-

15,168

Additions

89

70

159

Disposals

(568)

-

(568)

Impairment loss

(155)

-

(155)

14,534

70

14,604

Additions

269

-

269

Disposals

(402)

-

(402)

Transfers

70

(70)

-

14,471

-

14,471

8,907

-

8,907

990

-

990

(568)

-

(568)

9,329

-

9,329

945

-

945

Disposals

(402)

-

(402)

Balance at 30 June 2019

9,872

-

9,872

At 1 July 2017

6,261

-

6,261

At 30 June 2018

5,205

70

5,275

AT 30 JUNE 2019

4,599

-

4,599

In thousands of NZD

Costs
Balance at 1 July 2017

Balance at 30 June 2018

Balance at 30 June 2019
Accumulated amortisation
Balance at 1 July 2017
Amortisation
Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2018
Amortisation

Carrying amounts

Accounting policies
All property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation or amortisation and impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Where an asset is acquired in a non-exchange
transaction for nil or nominal consideration
the asset is initially measured at its fair value.
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it
is probable that the future economic benefits
associated with the expenditure will flow to the
EPA. All other repair and maintenance costs are
recognised in surplus or deficit as incurred. The
costs of self-constructed assets are recognised
as capital work in progress until the assets are
operating in the manner intended, at which
time they are transferred to property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets. Gains and losses
on disposals are determined by comparing the

proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset.
Gains and losses on disposals are reported net in
the surplus or deficit.
Depreciation and amortisation are recognised in
surplus or deficit and are calculated to spread the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment,
and intangible assets less their residual values
using the straight-line method over their useful
lives as follows.
Type of asset

Useful life

Computer hardware

3-4 years

Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment

6 years

Leasehold improvements

6-9 years

Computer software

3-8 years
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The assets’ residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively, if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
The majority of computer software comprises
the New Zealand Emission Trading Register
(NZETR) system.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The EPA classifies its property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets as non-cash
generating assets because the primary objective
for the use of these assets is not to realise a
commercial return.
The EPA assesses at each reporting date whether
there is an indication that a non-cash generating
asset may be impaired. If any indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for
an asset is required, the EPA estimates the
asset’s recoverable service amount. An asset’s
recoverable service amount is the higher of the
non-cash generating asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and its value in use.

Capital commitments
In thousands of NZD

2019

2018

Intangible assets

-

262

TOTAL CAPITAL
COMMITMENTS

-

262

Capital commitments represent capital
expenditure contracted for at balance date
but not yet incurred. There were no capital
commitments in the current financial year. The
intangible asset commitment in 2018 was related
to the contract signed for the replacement of the
existing New Zealand Emissions Trading Register
– Industrial Allocation Processing System
(NZETR – IAPS).

9. Payables
In thousands of NZD

Creditors
Accrued expenses

In determining fair value less costs to sell, the
EPA may engage an independent valuer, or it
may assess market value based on the best
available information. The assessment of value is
determined based on valuation techniques that
are appropriate for the asset.
Value in use is the present value of an asset’s
remaining service potential. It is determined
using an approach based on either a depreciated
replacement cost approach, a restoration cost
approach, or a service units approach. The most
appropriate approach used to measure value in
use depends on the nature of the impairment
and availability of information. If an asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service
amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and
the carrying amount is written down to the
recoverable amount. The total impairment loss or
its reversal is recognised in surplus or deficit.

Other payables
Taxes payable (GST and
PAYE)
TOTAL PAYABLES

2019

2018

1,003

810

422

714

3

7

375

310

1,803

1,841

All payables presented have arisen from
exchange transactions, with the exception of
taxes payable.

Accounting policies
Payables are recorded at the amount payable.

Judgements and estimates
Estimating useful lives of software assets
The NZETR has been developed to replace the
previous system, and was commissioned into
operation in the first quarter of 2017/18.
This system is estimated to have a useful life
of eight years.
There were no impairment losses recognised in
the current financial year (2018: $154,913).
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10. Employee entitlements
In thousands of NZD

2019

2018

Accrued salaries and wages

124

101

Accrued performance payments

149

140

Annual leave provision

721

803

16

3

1,010

1,047

127

98

4

3

131

101

1,141

1,148

Current

Long service leave provision
Total current employee entitlements
Non-current
Long service leave provision
Retirement leave provision
Total non-current employee entitlements
TOTAL EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Accounting policies
a) Short-term employee entitlements
Short-term employee entitlements are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability is
recognised for the amount expected to be paid
if the EPA has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of
past service provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably. Employee
entitlements are expected to be settled within
12 months of balance date and are measured
based on accrued entitlements at current rates
of pay. These include salaries and wages accrued
to balance date, and annual leave earned but not
yet taken at balance date.
A liability and an expense for performance
payments are recognised where there is a
contractual obligation or where there is a
past practice that has created a constructive
obligation and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made.

b) Long-term employee entitlements
Employee entitlements that are due to be settled
beyond 12 months after the end of period in which
the employee renders the related service. Long
service leave provision has been calculated on an
actuarial basis. The calculations are based on:
• likely future entitlements accruing to
staff, based on years of service, years
to entitlement, the likelihood that staff
will reach the point of entitlement, and
contractual entitlements information
• the present value of the estimated future
cash flows.

The risk-free discount rates and salary
inflation rate are published by The Treasury for
consolidation into the Government’s financial
statements at 30 June 2019.

c) Presentation of employee entitlements
Annual leave and vested long service leave are
classified as current liabilities. Non-vested long
service leave expected to be settled within 12
months of balance date is classified as current
liabilities. All other employee entitlements are
classified as non-current liabilities.

Accounting estimate and assumptions
Measuring long service leave obligations
The present value of the long service and
retirement leave obligations depend on a number
of factors that are determined on an actuarial
basis. Two key assumptions used in calculating
this liability are the discount rates and the
salary inflation factor. Any changes in these
assumptions will affect the carrying amount of
the liability.
Expected future payments are discounted using
forward discount rates derived from the yield
curve of New Zealand government bonds. The
discount rates used have maturities that match,
as closely as possible, the estimated future cash
outflows. The salary inflation factor has been
determined after considering historical salary
inflation patterns and after obtaining advice from
The Treasury.
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The discount rates used were:
• one year: 1.26% (2018: 1.78%)
• two years: 1.03% (2018: 1.9%)
• three or more years: 2.23% (2018: 3.55%).
The salary inflation factor up to 1 year was 1.72%
(2018: 1.7%) and over 1 year was 2.92% (2018: 3.1%).
If the discount rates were to differ by 1% from
those used, with all other factors held constant,
the carrying amount of the long service would be
an estimated $7,558 (2018: $5,700) higher or lower.
If the long-term salary inflation factor were to
differ by 1% from that used, with all other factors
held constant, the carrying amount of the long
service and retirement liability would be an
estimated $10,443 (2018: $7,900) higher or lower.

11. Equity
Capital management
The EPA’s equity is its General Fund, represented
by net assets. The EPA is subject to the financial

management and accountability provisions of the
Crown Entities Act 2004, which impose restrictions
on borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing
guarantees and indemnities, and the use of
derivatives. The EPA manages its equity as a byproduct of prudently managing revenues, expenses,
assets, liabilities, investments and general financial
dealings, to ensure the EPA effectively achieves its
objectives and purpose while remaining a going
concern. During the current accounting period
the EPA has complied with the above externally
imposed capital requirement.

12. Financial instruments and
risk management
Accounting classification and fair value
The following table shows the carrying amounts
of financial assets and liabilities in each of the
financial instrument categories. The carrying
amounts are a reasonable approximation of the
fair values of the financial instruments.

In thousands of NZD

2019

2018

2,849

2,704

290

482

6,000

7,000

9,139

10,186

Payables

1,428

1,531

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

1,428

1,531

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Cash at bank
Receivables
Short term deposits
Total financial assets measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial instruments
Cash at bank comprises cash on hand, deposits
held on call with banks and other short-term
deposits with maturities of three months or less.
Short-term deposits comprise term deposits with
banks with maturities greater than three months.
Payables exclude taxation liabilities owing to
Inland Revenue (GST and PAYE).

Risk management framework
The EPA’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks, including credit risk, liquidity
risk and market risk. The EPA has a number of
policies to manage the risks associated with

financial instruments to minimise exposure.
These policies do not allow any transactions
that are speculative in nature to be entered
into. The EPA Board has overall responsibility
for the establishment and oversight of the EPA’s
Audit and Risk Management Committee (the
‘Committee’), which is responsible for developing
and monitoring the EPA’s risk management
policies and framework. The Committee reports
regularly to the EPA Board on its activities.
The risk management policies and framework are
established to identify and analyse the risks faced by
the EPA, to set appropriate risk limits and controls,
and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed
regularly to reflect changes in the EPA activities.
The EPA, through its training, management
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Financial risk management

standards and procedures, aims to maintain a
disciplined and constructive control environment
in which all employees understand their roles
and obligations. The Committee oversees how
management monitors compliance with the EPA’s
risk management policies and procedures, and
reviews the adequacy of the risk management
framework in relation to the risks faced by the EPA.
The Committee is assisted in its oversight role by the
risk and assurance function in the EPA that organises
both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management
controls and procedures, the results of which are
reported to the Committee and the EPA Board.

a) Credit risk
A credit risk is the risk that a third party will
default on its obligation to the EPA, causing the
EPA to incur a loss. The EPA has processes in
place to review the credit quality of customers
before granting credit.
Due to the timing of its cash inflows and
outflows, the EPA invests surplus cash with
registered banks. The EPA’s investment policy
allows the investment of cash with registered
banks with a Standard and Poor’s credit rating
of AA- or higher. There have been no defaults of
interest or principal payments for term deposits.

In thousands of NZD

2019

2018

Westpac Banking Corporation (AA- rating)

4,849

6,704

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group (ANZ) (AA- rating)

4,000

3,000

TOTAL CASH AT BANK AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS

8,849

9,704

Cash at bank and short term deposits held with:

The EPA may have significant concentrations of
credit risk from a limited number of parties, through
the cost recovery of expenses related to RMA and
EEZ Act applications. The EPA has no significant
concentration of credit risk from other operations.

The EPA’s maximum credit exposure for each
class of financial instrument is represented
by the total carrying amount of cash at bank,
receivables, and short-term deposits. No
collateral is held as security against these
financial instruments, including instruments that
are overdue or impaired.

The ageing profile of receivables at reporting date is detailed below.
2019

2018

In thousands of NZD

Gross

Impairment

Net

Gross

Impairment

Net

Due within 30 days

248

-

248

429

-

429

Past due 31-60 days

-

-

-

1

-

1

Past due 61-90 days

28

-

28

1

-

1

Past due over 90 days

14

-

14

51

-

51

290

-

290

482

-

482

TOTAL

There was no provision for impairment in respect of receivables at reporting date (2018: nil).

b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the EPA will encounter
difficulty in meeting the obligations associated
with its financial liabilities that are settled by cash
payment. The EPA’s approach to managing liquidity
is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they
are due without risking damage to its reputation.

Contractual maturity analysis
of financial liabilities
The table overleaf analyses the EPA’s financial
liabilities into maturity groupings, based on
the remaining period at the balance date to
the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows.
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Carrying Contractual
amount
cash flow

In thousands of NZD

Less than
6 months

6-12
months

Later than
1 year

2018 Payables*

1,531

1,531

1,531

-

-

2019 Payables*

1,428

1,428

1,428

-

-

* Payables exclude taxation liabilities owing to IRD (GST and PAYE).

c) Market risk

ii. Currency risk

i. Cash flow interest rate risk

Currency risk is the risk that the future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in foreign exchange rates. The EPA has no
significant exposure to foreign currency risks, as
most of its transactions and financial instruments
are denominated in New Zealand dollars.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the
future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. At reporting date, the EPA had
no variable interest rate investments. The
EPA’s investment policy requires a spread of
investment maturity dates to limit exposure
to short-term interest rate movements.

iii. Price risk

Maturity analysis and effective interest rates of
term deposits

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in
market prices. The EPA has no financial instrument
that is exposed to changes in market prices.

The maturity dates and weighted average effective
interest rates for term deposits are as follows:

13. Related-party transactions and key
management personnel

In thousands of NZD

2019

2018

Short-term deposit maturities
of 4 to 6 months with
average maturity of 136 days
(2018: 3 to 9 months with
average maturity of 148 days)

6,000

7,000

Weighted average effective
interest rate

3.36%

3.15%

There were four term deposits, as at reporting
date, with maturity dates between 93 to 176
days that were invested at fixed interest rates
between 3.35% to 3.45% (2018: 3.05% to 3.45%).
Sensitivity analysis – interest rate risk
If the average daily bank interest rate had been
50 basis points lower or higher for the year
ended 30 June 2019, with all other variables held
constant, the deficit for the year would have
been $69,902 higher (2018: $67,300) or $44,263
lower (2018: $41,253).

The EPA is a Crown Entity that is controlled by
the Crown.

a) Significant transactions with governmentrelated entities
The EPA has not disclosed related-party
transactions which have been made on an
arm’s-length basis.
The EPA received revenue from the Crown
of $25.517 million (2018: $25.369 million) for
specific purposes as set out in its founding
legislation and the scope of the relevant
Government appropriations.

b) Key management personnel remuneration
and compensation
The EPA classifies its key management personnel
into the following categories:
• Executive Leadership Team
• members of the EPA Board and the
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
(ARC)
• Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao – The Māori
Advisory Committee
• members of the HSNO and EEZ Decisionmaking Committees
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The table below shows the aggregate remuneration of key management personnel and the number of
individuals determined on a full-time equivalent basis.
In thousands of NZD/personnel numbers

2019

2018

2,356

2,102

9.38

9.35

192

200

0.97

1.03

76

63

0.60

0.52

73

17

0.65

0.15

189

141

0.78

0.63

Total key management personnel remuneration

2,886

2,523

TOTAL FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT PERSONNEL

12.38

11.68

Executive Leadership Team
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
Board Members and Chairperson of the ARC
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Committee
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
EEZ Decision-making Committees
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members

Full-time equivalent for the Board is based on 50 working days for the Chairperson, 37.5 working days
for the Deputy Chairperson and 30 working days for members, in accordance with Cabinet Office
Circular CO (12)6. The full-time equivalent for the other committee members is based on the hours paid
to the committee members.
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The remuneration paid to members of the EPA Board, the Chairperson of the ARC, members of Ngā
Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao, and members of the HSNO and EEZ Decision-making Committees are as follows.
In thousands of NZD

2019

2018

Julie Hardaker (Chairperson) (term commenced August 2018)

44

-

Steven (Tipene) Wilson (Deputy Chairperson) (term commenced August 2018)

24

-

Dayle Hunia

21

21

Dr Gerda Kuschel (term commenced August 2018)

19

-

Dr Gillian Wratt

21

21

Professor Jeroen Douwes (term commenced August 2018)

19

-

Dr Nicki Crauford

21

21

Paul Connell (Chairperson – ARC) (term commenced February 2019)

4

-

Geoffrey Thompson (term ended July 2018)

2

21

Dame Kerry Prendergast (term ended August 2018)

9

48

Dr Kevin Thompson (term ended July 2018)

2

26

Kura Denness (term ended August 2018)

3

21

Tim Lusk (term ended August 2018)

3

21

192

200

2019

2018

26

19

9

5

10

10

7

2

10

5

Mahanga Maru (term commenced October 2018)

4

-

Maree Haupai Puke

4

5

Richard Witana (term commenced October 2018)

4

-

James Whetu (term ended July 2017)

-

1

Lennie Johns (deceased)

1

9

Steven (Tipene) Wilson (term ended July 2018)

1

7

76

63

Board and Chairperson of the ARC

TOTAL

In thousands of NZD

Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao
Lisa te Heuheu (Tumuaki – Chairperson)
Dr Daniel Hikuroa (Tumuaki Tuarua – Deputy Chairperson)
James Doherty
Keita Kohere
Kelly May

TOTAL
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In thousands of NZD

2019

2018

3

-

12

5

1

-

Dr John Taylor

14

3

Dr Kerry Laing

12

1

Dr Louise Malone

8

1

Dr Ngaire Phillips

14

1

Dr Nick Roskruge

5

1

Dr Sharon Lehany (Adamson)

2

1

Dr Kevin Thompson (term ended August 2018)

2

4

73

17

341

280

2019

2018

Basil Morrison

20

-

David Hill

14

3

David McMahon

16

-

Dayle Hunia

14

-

Elena Trout

15

-

Dr Gillian Wratt

22

-

Glenice Paine

18

2

Greg Hill

10

5

3

-

Mark Farnsworth

33

-

Dr Nicki Crauford

13

3

Sheena Tepania

11

-

Alick Shaw

-

13

Gerry Coates

-

22

Dr Gerda Kuschel

-

29

Dame Kerry Prendergast

-

17

Dr Kevin Thompson

-

10

Miria Pomare

-

17

Sharon McGarry

-

20

Total

189

141

TOTAL BOARD, STATUTORY COMMITTEE, AND EEZ DECISION-MAKING
COMMITTEE REMUNERATION

530

421

Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Committee
Steven (Tipene) Wilson (Chairperson) (term commenced October 2018)
Dr Derek Belton
Dr Gillian Wratt (interim chair August - October 2018)

Total
TOTAL BOARD AND STATUTORY COMMITTEE REMUNERATION

In thousands of NZD

EEZ Decision-making Committee

Greg Shaw
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14. Indemnity
The Members of the EPA Board have insurance
cover against loss caused by wrongful acts
or omissions of test certifiers approved by
the Board under the HSNO Act, where the
acts or omissions occurred in a professional
capacity involving test certifiers’ duties under
the HSNO Act. The Board has also agreed
to indemnify members (as well as members
of Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao, members of
the HSNO Committee, external experts coopted to Decision-making Committees and
EPA employees) for acts or omissions made in
good faith and in the performance or intended
performance of the EPA’s functions. The Board
has insurance cover for its members and staff
for personal accident and travel risks associated
with overseas travel on EPA business.

15. Contingent assets or liabilities
There were no contingent assets or liabilities as
at 30 June 2019 (2018: nil).

16. Events after the balance sheet date
There were no significant events occurring after
balance date that would materially affect these
financial statements (2018: nil).

17. Explanation of significant
variances against budget
Explanations for significant variations from
the EPA budget figures in the Statement of
Performance Expectations are as follows.

Statement of comprehensive
revenue and expenses

response to higher levels of operational activities
during the year. This increase was partially
offset by a lesser amount spent on the EPA’s
programme of work in delivering a number of
business and systems improvement projects
during the year.

Statement of financial position
c) Cash at bank and short-term deposits
The total cash at bank and on deposit was
$0.9 million higher than originally budgeted,
which mainly reflected the lower than expected
actual net deficit incurred for the year.

d) Employee entitlements
Employee entitlements were less than budget by
$0.2 million due to a decrease in the provision for
annual leave.

e) Payables
Payables exceeded budget by $0.3 million due to
higher creditors than originally estimated when
the budget was calculated.

Statement of Cash Flows
Receipts from other revenue were less than
budgeted, mainly due to lower activity for NSP
and EEZ applications than expected. Payments
to employees were higher than budget due
to increased staffing resources during the
year. Payments to suppliers were less than
budgeted due to lower activity for NSP and EEZ
applications. Short-term deposits were higher
than budgeted by $1.0 million due to an increase
in funds available for investment.

a) Revenue
Crown revenue increased by $0.3 million due to
additional funding received for the last quarter
of the year in relation to the operation of the
RMA enforcement unit. Other revenue, which
is primarily comprised of revenue from cost
recoveries, was under budget by $2.7 million
mainly as a result of lower activity than expected
for Nationally Significant Proposals (NSP) and
EEZ applications.

b) Expenses
Total expenses were under budget by
$3.5 million. This was mainly a result of lower
expenditure for NSP and EEZ activity due
to fewer applications received, as noted in
paragraph 17(a) above. However, personnel costs
were higher than budget due to an increase
in permanent and temporary employees in
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OUR STAFF

Karla Ellicock
Hazardous Substances Applications Advisor

My background is in ecology – studying how
organisms interact with one another and with
their environment. It’s all about connections.
One of my earliest memories of science
was at primary school, where we had to
create a poster and map a food web that
included whales. This experience taught
me that each connection in the food web is
reliant on another. It sparked my interest in
the natural world and led me to complete a
double major in ecology and marine biology.
What I love about these connections is that
they are all interdependent. If one is broken
or altered in an ecosystem, it can have
widespread effects. Humans are not separate
from the connections in the natural world.
Our economy, wellbeing, and way of life are
all connected to the environment – from the
food on our plates to the air that we breathe.
The work we do creates connections
between global treaties and the average
New Zealander: from government-led
policies to the tūī singing in the trees.

Our team implements and regulates
New Zealand’s legislation, which is connected to
UN conventions such as the Montreal Protocol
(an international treaty designed to protect
the ozone layer by phasing out substances
that are responsible for ozone depletion).
As countries across the world work together, we
are now seeing that our combined efforts are
working: the ozone layer is beginning to heal.
Without the international community coming
together in the 1980s, life on Earth today could
look very different. Before the current evidence
of the ozone layer healing, NASA had calculated
that by 2040 the ozone hole would have been
global, and UV radiation in latitudes similar
to Washington DC would have been strong
enough to cause sunburn in just five minutes.
The Montreal Protocol is tangible evidence
that humanity can work together to create
positive impacts. And, like the team
here at the EPA, it plays an important
part in improving life on our planet.
If we can connect with those around
us and with the natural world, every
one of us can make an impact.
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Independent auditor’s report

To the readers of the Environmental
Protection Authority’s financial
statements and performance information
for the year ended 30 June 2019.
The Auditor-General is the auditor of the
Environmental Protection Authority (the
EPA). The Auditor-General has appointed
me, Rehan Badar, using the staff and
resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry
out the audit of the financial statements
and the performance information,
including the performance information for
appropriations, of the EPA on his behalf.

Opinion
We have audited:
•

•

the financial statements of the EPA on pages
35 to 53, that comprise the statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2019, the
statement of comprehensive revenue and
expenses, statement of changes in equity
and statement of cash flows for the year
ended on that date and the notes to the
financial statements including a summary
of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information; and
the performance information of
the EPA on pages 20 to 33.

In our opinion:
•

•

the financial statements of the EPA
on pages 35 to 53:
−− present fairly, in all material respects:
−− its financial position as at
30 June 2019; and
−− its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended; and
−− comply with generally accepted
accounting practice in New Zealand in
accordance with the Public Benefit Entity
Reporting Standards; and
the performance information

on pages 20 to 33:
−− presents fairly, in all material respects,
the EPA’s performance for the year
ended 30 June 2019, including:
−− for each class of reportable outputs:
−− its standards of delivery
performance achieved as
compared with forecasts
included in the statement of
performance expectations
for the financial year; and
−− its actual revenue and output
expenses as compared with the
forecasts included in the statement
of performance expectations
for the financial year; and
−− what has been achieved with
the appropriations; and
−− the actual expenses or capital
expenditure incurred compared
with the appropriated or forecast
expenses or capital expenditure.
−− complies with generally accepted
accounting practice in New Zealand.
Our audit was completed on 31 October 2019.
This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below.
In addition, we outline the responsibilities of
the Board and our responsibilities relating to
the financial statements and the performance
information, we comment on other information,
and we explain our independence.
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Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards,
which incorporate the Professional and Ethical
Standards and the International Standards
on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards
Board. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Responsibilities
of the auditor section of our report.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in
accordance with the Auditor-General’s
Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial
statements and the performance information
The Board is responsible on behalf of the
EPA for preparing financial statements and
performance information that are fairly
presented and comply with generally accepted
accounting practice in New Zealand. The
Board is responsible for such internal control
as it determines is necessary to enable it to
prepare financial statements and performance
information that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements and
the performance information, the Board is
responsible on behalf of the EPA for assessing
the EPA’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The Board is also responsible for disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting, unless there is an intention to
merge or to terminate the activities of the EPA,
or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board’s responsibilities arise from
the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the
Public Finance Act 1989.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the
audit of the financial statements and the
performance information
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial
statements and the performance information,
as a whole, are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit carried out in accordance with the
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will
always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements are differences or
omissions of amounts or disclosures, and
can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements
are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the decisions of
readers, taken on the basis of these financial
statements and the performance information.
For the budget information reported in the
financial statements and the performance
information, our procedures were limited to
checking that the information agreed to the
EPA’s statement of performance expectations.
We did not evaluate the security and controls
over the electronic publication of the financial
statements and the performance information.
As part of an audit in accordance with the
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit.
Also:
• We identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements
and the performance information, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
• We obtain an understanding of internal
control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the EPA’s internal control.
• We evaluate the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Board.
• We evaluate the appropriateness of
the reported performance information
within the EPA’s framework for
reporting its performance.
• We conclude on the appropriateness
of the use of the going concern basis of
accounting by the Board and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or
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•

conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the EPA’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements and
the performance information or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the EPA
to cease to continue as a going concern.
We evaluate the overall presentation,
structure and content of the financial
statements and the performance
information, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements and the
performance information represent the
underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Independence
We are independent of the EPA in accordance
with the independence requirements of the
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the independence requirements
of Professional and Ethical Standard 1
(Revised): Code of Ethics for Assurance
Practitioners issued by the New Zealand
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have
no relationship with, or interest in, the EPA.

Rehan Badar
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit
Act 2001.

Other information
The Board is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
information included on pages 4 to 18, 34, 54 and
58 to 111 but does not include the financial
statements and the performance information,
and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements
and the performance information does
not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of audit opinion
or assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial
statements and the performance information,
our responsibility is to read the other information.
In doing so, we consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements and the performance
information or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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OUR STAFF

Dan Baker
Land and Oceans Compliance Senior Advisor

Our team is responsible for environmental
monitoring and compliance across a range of
activities occurring in New Zealand’s Exclusive
Economic Zone and Continental Shelf. This
is a massive area of ocean wrapping around
New Zealand, spanning 5.7 million square
kilometres – about 20 times our land mass –
and is one of the biggest zones of its kind in
the world.
We oversee industrial and scientific activity
which ranges from inspecting drilling rigs,
wellhead platforms and dredge operations to
monitoring rocket launches and scientific probe
placements on the sea floor.
Our main focus is on discharges of harmful
substances into the ocean and disturbances of
the seabed that may occur in association with
the activities we regulate.
Working as an environmental regulator in
the off-shore marine space is fascinating and
challenging. Most notably, it is a difficult place
to access.

The facilities we inspect are (typically) oil and
gas operations more than 30kms offshore. These
facilities are complex, inherently dangerous, and
operate 24 hours per day. We fly out to location
by helicopter and often stay overnight in order to
carry out an inspection.
What I most enjoy about working in this space
is the opportunity to work across multiple
disciplines. While most of our team have a
tertiary education background in environmental
or marine science, the industries we regulate
demand our attention in instrumentation,
mechanical and hydraulic engineering,
hydrocarbons, and a wide variety of water
contaminants and ecotoxic compounds.
Ultimately our job is to protect the environment
by ensuring players obey the rules. We
contribute to the marine consent application
process by providing feedback from inspection
findings and reviewing consent conditions for
enforceability. We monitor, inspect and hold
parties to account to ensure the sustainable
management of our ocean.
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Capability

Generating and maintaining the capability to
produce the results New Zealand needs from
the EPA is critical to our success. The EPA is
continuing a multi-year programme to recruit,
retain and develop the people we need, and to
equip them with enhanced systems and tools
needed to improve services for our customers.

People potential
Goal: A confident EPA with highly capable and engaged people working collaboratively
for optimum results
Strategic intention: Build depth and breadth of leadership and technical expertise to ensure we have
the capability and capacity to respond to stakeholder and customer demand
Measures that
demonstrate achievement

Target

Actual 2018/19

Actual
2017/18

Standard met

We have a strong learning culture that supports our ability to attract, grow and retain talent
Survey shows staff agree
EPA provides learning and
development opportunities

By 1 October 2017,
80% and maintained
at this level

Not
applicable

IBM staff survey was
withdrawn during the
year and no suitable
alternative was available
prior to year-end

58.1% (2017)

Staff turnover

Less than 15% per
year

18.6%

Not met, however
the turnover level has
continued to decrease

20.8%

Investment in staff
training and professional
development opportunities

2.75% annually

1.96%

Not met. Learning and
development approach
has evolved12

2.83%

12

 he focus is on using the 70/20/10 learning and development
T
methodology, in particular staff taking a lead in their learning
on the job (70 percent), as opposed to previous years when
there was more direct spending on external training and courses
(10 percent).
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Measures that
demonstrate achievement

Actual
2017/18

Target

Actual 2018/19

Standard met

By 30 June 2019
– leadership
development
milestones listed
are successfully
embedded

Yes

The Executive Leadership
Programme learnings have
been embedded through a
series of initiatives for the
EPA. There is continued
leadership investment for
managers, and technical
and aspiring leaders

Milestones
embedded

Demonstrate
progress in achieving
in the key areas of
the HR programme

Yes

The Government
Regulatory Practice
Initiative (G-Reg)
training continues to be
a key People Potential
development area with
69 employees having
completed or working on
the modules.
EPA staff continue to grow
their Māori capability
with 72% of staff having
completed activities
through the He Whetū
Mārama programme

New target

Number of staff who
speak at conferences or
similar events, and positive
feedback received where
provided

Greater than 10 per
year and feedback
equal to a rating of
4 out of 5 (where
provided)

Presentations
were made
at 37 external
conferences
or similar
events

Surveys were not
undertaken. Where we
have anecdotal feedback
it was positive, such as:
“the lecturer contacted us
immediately to extend her
congratulations, and said
the students have never
been so engaged by any
speaker”

Achieved

Staff are recognised for
their contributions to
scientific, technical, and
specialist debates and
publications

Reports to Board
show that we are
recognised for our
contributions

Yes

Staff have been recognised
for their contribution

Achieved

EPA staff agree that there
is a common purpose in the
organisation

By 1 October 2017,
80% and maintained
at this level

Not
applicable

IBM staff survey was
withdrawn during the year
and no suitable alternative
was available prior to yearend

54% (2017)

Deliver a human resources
programme of work that
covers:
•
•
•
•

•

strengthening our
capability in leadership
strategic agility
Māori capability
customer-centricity
and partnership
engagement
regulatory expertise
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The EPA continues to focus on being an
employer of choice and having engaged staff
who contribute to making history and develop in
their careers. For both 2017 and 2018, the Human
Rights Commission review and analysis of the
good employer obligations ranked the EPA in the
top tier of Crown entities for overall compliance.
We seek to maintain this.
We continue to invest significantly in
professional development. The staff turnover
has decreased year-on-year, supported by the
investment in staff development and systems.
Regulatory capability has been significantly
increased with 69 managers and staff
completing the Government Regulatory Practice
Initiative G-Reg modules. This core regulatory
capability building block will be completed by
all employees over time and by the EPA Board.
We continue to grow our Māori capability
with 69 percent of staff embracing
the many and varied activities in the
He Whētu Mārama programme.
Operational efficiency and enabling staff
and managers through smart HR technology
has been a key achievement during the
year. The completely online recruitment
process has also been positively received
by current and potential employees.

Health and safety
The EPA is committed to and continuously works
to improve the knowledge and awareness of
health, safety and wellbeing across the business.
This ensures staff are safe and well at work and
that we are complying with the Health and Safety
at Work Act 2015. We continue to focus on staff
wellbeing, personnel and physical security,
and working with others when entering their
premises to conduct compliance activities.
Work in 2018/19 included the following:
• Training was designed and piloted for
dynamic risk assessments in unfamiliar
locations. The pilot was run for the EEZ and
RMA compliance teams and will be rolled out
to all field staff in 2019/20.
• Psychological first aid training was conducted
for all ELT and managers, and made available
for staff to attend.
• Heart stop training, run in-house by
Wellington Free Ambulance, offered all staff
the opportunity to learn CPR and how to use
the defibrillator. Around 100 staff attended
these sessions.
• Frontline staff were trained in situational
awareness and tactical communications.

•
•
•
•

New procedures were implemented for
lockdown situations, and the first lockdown
drill was carried out on 10 May 2019.
An external SafePlus assessment was carried
out.
The EPA’s Business Continuity and
Emergency Management Plan has been
updated and embedded.
There has been ongoing engagement with
staff about health, safety and wellbeing
activities, including staff presentations and
activities that promote physical wellbeing.

During this period, no work-related injuries or
illnesses requiring medical treatment or lost time
were reported. There were no notifiable incidents
to WorkSafe New Zealand during this period.

Good employer obligations
To be a good employer, the EPA must achieve
high standards across a range of measures.
During the year we collected benchmarking data,
and reported it to the Human Rights Commission.
Internally, we use the data to drive continued
performance improvement.
Obligations are monitored in the following areas:
• employee development and promotion, and
exit processes
• flexibility and work design
• leadership, accountability and culture
• maintaining a safe and healthy environment
• preventing harassment and bullying
• recruitment, selection and induction
• remuneration, recognition and conditions.
The EPA has a diverse and highly-qualified
workforce, as our work calls for expertise across
a wide range of disciplines. The majority of our
staff are New Zealand-born. However, because of
our reputation and the diversity of our work, we
are attractive to skilled staff from other parts of
the world. We value the range of world views and
experiences our staff bring to their work.
Staff voluntarily provide information that
allows us to report (in aggregate) on their age,
sex, ethnic identity, and whether they identify
themselves as disabled.
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The Human Rights Commission
ranked us in the top tier of all
Crown entities for compliance
with good employer obligations
Good employer obligations

Achievements

Leadership, accountability and culture
Ensure the EPA’s vision
articulates our commitment
to equality and diversity

The EPA’s vision of an environment protected, enhancing our way of life
and the economy, is supported by organisational policies and processes
(Recruitment and Code of Conduct), and through He Whetū Mārama
(our Māori framework) which articulates our commitment to equality
and diversity.

Encourage the development
of a culture that is supportive
and equitable for all staff

Ninety percent of staff participated in workshops about the EPA’s
strategic direction for the next four years. Our organisational
strategy is based on our four strategic pillars and our values,
which will help to drive organisational culture. Our values are:
• passionate people working as One EPA
• big ideas, bold goals and aspirations
• who we are, our identity and our purpose
• our customers and partners and service to the nation
• scientific endeavour, mātauranga Māori, and
evidential decision making
• being full of life through diversity of people and ideas.
Staff suggestions are encouraged and responded to. At our monthly
all-staff meeting, we acknowledge outstanding contributions to work
deliverables, and also examples of behaviours that uphold EPA values.
All staff are encouraged to contribute technical and
opinion pieces, on matters ranging from science to values,
for publication on the intranet, and many do so.

Encourage development
of a learning culture that
will enhance the EPA’s
performance, while supporting
the aspirations of staff

We continue to invest in targeted staff learning and development
with opportunities offered including secondments and management
opportunities, as well as formal, informal and on-the-job learning. We
will be providing staff with access to a new learning management system
from late 2019. This enables them to track completed courses, engage
in e-learning, and other organisational development opportunities.

Recruitment, selection and induction
Ensure the continued
use of robust and
transparent recruitment
and selection processes

We use transparent hiring processes to ensure legislative
requirements are met, and the best people are selected
for the right position, at the appropriate time.
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Good employer obligations

Achievements

Use innovative channels to
attract diverse applicants

We recognise the importance of attracting, valuing, and
understanding, a diverse workforce. We use a range of channels to
attract candidates, including recruitment websites, business and
employment-oriented social networking services, such as LinkedIn
and Twitter, national and international recruitment agencies,
journals, domestic newspapers and networking forums. We continue
to consider new ways to connect with our target audiences.

Monitor candidate and
workforce demographics
in relation to age, ethnicity,
gender and disability

The EPA recognises the importance of having equal employment
policies in place to eliminate barriers to employment.
Information is collected relating to staff demographics,
and reports are delivered to management regularly.

Employee development, promotion and exit processes
The EPA will provide equal
access to personal development
and other activities that
may lead to promotion

Each staff member has a performance and development plan,
and is encouraged to take up opportunities for advancement
or personal development. Workshops, seminars and courses
are provided in-house. Vacancies, advancement opportunities
and secondments are advertised internally. Career progression
and secondment guidelines have been issued.

Our performance
management practices will
be transparent and fair

HR technology supports staff and managers to set objectives,
activities and competencies and then to continuously monitor
and report against them. This is beginning to create a culture
of continued performance improvement. Formal end-of-year
performance reviews then summarise the year of discussions.

Staff will have the opportunity
to complete an ‘inconfidence’ exit survey

All staff leaving the EPA are offered the opportunity to complete
an exit survey in confidence. This information is collated into
generic themes and provided to the management team, in the
form of a report, to see if any processes require review.

Flexibility and work design
Work towards an organisationwide flexible work programme
to recognise the needs of
parents and other caregivers

Managers engage with staff about their wellbeing at regular catchup sessions. Discussions are held with new parents/caregivers
prior to returning to work. Support for individual needs can include
working flexible hours, a phased return to work, part-time hours,
or working from home. Reviews are undertaken to monitor flexible
working patterns, to ensure they are working well for all parties.

Provide facilities for the use
of parents/caregivers

A private wellbeing room is available for parents/caregivers.

Remuneration, recognition and conditions
Continue to provide transparent,
equitable and gender-neutral
job evaluation processes

Our job evaluation processes include a regular review of job
descriptions, job salary bands and remuneration levels, to
ensure transparent, equitable and gender-neutral job evaluation
processes. Pay equity and equality is monitored and reviewed
across the organisation, over the course of the year.
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Good employer obligations

Achievements

The remuneration system
will be reviewed regularly

The remuneration system is reviewed on a regular basis, with
external trends monitored throughout the year. Key data sets are
reviewed as part of the end-of-year remuneration process.

Prevention of harassment and bullying
Relevant policies and the
Code of Conduct will be
promoted to staff

We recognise it is critical to review and articulate key policies and
practices for all staff. We do this through induction processes,
presentations at monthly staff meetings and intranet updates. All new staff
must read the relevant policies, including the Code of Conduct, as part
of on-boarding processes, and attest in writing that they have done so.

Managers and staff are trained
in their responsibilities

All new staff members are provided with targeted induction
processes and face-to-face induction training. Within one to two
months of joining, staff participate in a corporate induction session
that outlines the role of business units across the organisation.

The leadership team ensures
there is zero tolerance of
harassment and bullying

The EPA has zero tolerance to bullying. If identified, it would be
dealt with promptly and in an appropriate manner. Harassment and
bullying information is included in our employment relations policy.

Safe and healthy environment
Create an environment that
supports employee participation
in health and safety

The Board, managers and staff are fully committed to ensuring that
the EPA is a safe environment in which to work. Staff have been elected
as Health and Safety Representatives and they support our teams and
the Health and Safety Committee, which has members drawn from
across the organisation. Appropriate training is provided to all members
and representatives.
The Board receives regular reports on incidents, hazards, corrective
actions, and activities undertaken to support health and safety. The Chief
Executive is a member of the Business Leaders Health and Safety Forum,
which provides mutual support to achieve Zero Harm Workplaces.

Take a proactive approach to
employee health and wellbeing

The EPA supports a culture of wellbeing for all staff. All new employees
have a face-to-face health and safety induction. In addition, all staff
members receive a work station assessment when they join the EPA,
move desk, or have signs of discomfort. Onsite massage sessions are
available to staff at their own expense. Group discounts are available
through providers for private healthcare. The EPA also contributes
towards eye tests and annual flu vaccinations for all staff. EPA wide
activities are run during the year, including a mental health wellbeing
week in September and emergency preparedness in October.

Staff will have easy
access to the Employee
Assistance Programme

The EPA promotes the Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) website
and 0800 number on the staff intranet, through the HR team and on
posters around the organisation. Staff members are also told about
EAP services during periods of change, after natural disasters or
during personal discussions with the HR team or their managers.

Our policies will reflect these
commitments and progress
will be reported annually to the
Human Rights Commission

To ensure their effectiveness, our policies are reviewed
against legislative changes, legal precedent, effective
equal employment opportunities and good practice.
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People metrics
Gender

30 June 2019

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

Male

36% (64)

37% (58)

35% (55)

Female

63% (112)

63% (100)

65% (104)

1% (2)

-

-

30 June 2019

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

Asian

5% (9)

3% (5)

2.5% (4)

Māori

5% (9)

5% (8)

5% (8)

52% (92)

61% (96)

66% (105)

1% (1)

-

-

2% (3)

4% (6)

3.1% (5)

-

20% (32)

16.4% (26)

2% (3)

1% (1)

1.9% (3)

-

1% (1)

0.6% (1)

Undisclosed

13% (24)

1% (2)

3.1% (5)

European

21% (37)

1% (2)

-

Ethnicity NZ

-

3% (4)

0.6% (1)

Ethnicity NZ US

-

1% (1)

0.6% (1)

Undisclosed

Ethnicity*

New Zealand European
Middle Eastern/Latin American/African
Other Ethnic Group
Other European
Pacific Peoples
Samoan

* When implementing the new HR information system (called Te Rito) we adopted the Statistics NZ ethnic group profile list so 2018 categories shown
above are different from those in previous years.

Age

30 June 2019

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

20-29

14% (25)

12.7% (20)

14% (23)

30-39

30% (53)

31.6% (50)

31% (49)

40-49

22% (39)

22.8% (36)

23% (36)

50-59

20% (36)

20.3% (32)

21% (33)

60-69

11% (20)

12% (19)

10% (16)

70-79

1% (1)

0.6% (1)

1% (2)

2% (4)

-

-

Undisclosed

As at 30 June 2019 the average age of staff, to the nearest whole year, was 44 (2018: 44 years).
There were 161 permanent employees, 14 fixed-term employees and three casual employees,
with the total of 178 employees (2018: total 169 permanent and fixed-term employees). We do not
currently record whether any of our employees identify as having a disability.
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Employee pay comparisons
Role type

Administration

Female
Male

Staff numbers

Median
hourly rate

19

$29.68

2

$28.80

Gap
Advisor/Analyst

-3.07%

Female

37

$32.87

Male

18

$33.64

Gap
Senior Advisor/Analyst

2.28%

Female

28

$46.84

Male

25

$47.94

Gap
Principal Advisor/Analyst

Female
Male

2.30%
10

$63.94

3

$59.28

Gap
Team Leader

-7.87%

Female

8

$52.91

Male

6

$51.35

Gap
Manager

-3.03%

Female

8

$74.28

Male

4

$72.73

Gap
General Manager

-2.13%

Female

4

$96.88

Male

4

$105.41

Gap

8.10%
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As a good employer, the EPA is committed to
paying our people based on their skills, knowledge
and experience. In 2016, we began collecting and
analysing data on any gender disparities and proactively managing pay equity and equality. We
have had a continued decrease in the gender pay
gaps across our levels since then.
The information on page 66 presents the EPA
position as at mid-August 2019. The overall
gender pay gap at the EPA is 14.8 percent. The
main factors contributing to the overall gap as
well as gaps at different role levels, are the size
of the organisation, and the gender composition
of each role type. For example, there are more
women than men in the administration group.
The general manager group consists of specialist
roles which, although combined under one role
type, are harder to compare. Also, historically,
we had a number of disparities for both genders.
These were identified and addressed, some of
them more recently.

Environmental performance
As noted in the Chief Executive’s overview,
we have committed to making a positive
difference to the environment by joining the
Certified Emissions Measurement and Reduction
Scheme (CEMARS), to monitor and reduce our
organisation’s carbon emissions per full-time
equivalent employee.
We achieved formal certification in December
2018, and are publicly committed to reducing
electricity usage by eight percent, the amount of
paper usage and landfill waste by 15 percent, and
emissions resulting from staff business travel by
eight percent, by 1 July 2021.
We will provide more information on how we are
tracking to achieve these sustainability targets in
future reports.

All aspects of remuneration, including pay equity
and equality, are an ongoing focus for the EPA.
They are managed through our recruitment
process, promotions and remuneration reviews
(twice a year – mid-year and annual).

We are committed to reducing our
carbon emissions by 1 July 2021 per FTE
Our goals:

Paper and landfill waste

Electricity usage

Emissions from
business travel
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Additional
information

03

Responsibilities and functions

About the EPA

The decision makers

The EPA is a Crown Agent for the purposes
of the Crown Entities Act 2004. The EPA was
established under the Environmental Protection
Authority Act 2011. Information about the
environmental Acts under which the EPA
has functions is contained in the Additional
information section of our Statement of Intent
2019–2023, which is reproduced on pages
71 to 92 of this document. The Statement of
Intent also presents our vision, strategic goals,
and strategic priorities.

Exclusive Economic Zone
Decision-making Committees

The Minister for the Environment and the
Associate Minister for the Environment
provide the EPA with an annual letter
outlining expectations. This document guides
development of the annual Statement of
Performance Expectations. The 2018/19 letter of
expectations requested the EPA to prepare a new
Statement of Intent for 2019–2023. Statements
of Intent and Statements of Performance
Expectations are the primary sources from which
Parliament is able to hold the EPA to account.

The EPA Board
The EPA is governed by a Board, appointed
by the Minister for the Environment and the
Associate Minister for the Environment, under
the Crown Entities Act 2004. The Board
has between six and eight members, and is
supported by two statutory committees and two
standing committees. There is more information
about these in the Additional information:
Governance section of our Statement of Intent
2019–2023, which is reproduced on pages
93 to 111.

The EEZ Act has three decision pathways for
marine consents, permissions and authorisations:
• EPA-appointed, delegated Decision-making
Committees (which must include at least
one EPA Board member) for publicly notified
marine consents that are not section 20
activities, and for non-notified marine
consents.
• Boards of Inquiry appointed by the Minister
for the Environment (which may include
an EPA Board member) make decisions on
marine consents for restricted section 20
activities.
• Other decisions under the EEZ Act are
delegated by the EPA Board to the Chief
Executive and EPA staff, where appropriate.

Resource Management Act decisions
The EPA supports decision making on two
different types of RMA applications.
• Boards of Inquiry are appointed by the
Minister for the Environment (sometimes
in conjunction with the Minister of
Conservation) to make decisions on
Nationally Significant Proposals (NSPs). Over
the years, NSPs have included major roading
projects, a prison, a fish farm, a windfarm,
and an inland port.
• Special Tribunals are appointed by the
Minister for the Environment to make
decisions on applications for Water
Conservation Orders, designed to recognise
and protect the outstanding values of
particular bodies of water. They may be
applied over rivers, lakes, streams, ponds,
wetlands or aquifers, and geothermal water.
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Hazardous Substances and
New Organisms decisions
Our Hazardous Substances and New Organisms
Committee is a statutory committee appointed
by the EPA Board to consider and make decisions
on applications, except for some categories of
decisions that are made by staff members and
third parties under authority delegated by the
Board. The committee is chaired by a Board
member, and its members have scientific and
technical expertise in various relevant fields.

Disclosure of interests
Section 68(6) of the Crown Entities Act 2004
requires the Board to disclose any interests to
which a permission to act has been granted,
despite a member being interested in a matter.
Below are the relevant disclosures:
Dr Nicki Crauford disclosed two potential
interests related to her role as the EPA Board
member sitting on the Decision-making
Committee (DMC) for the application
from OMV for a marine discharge consent
to discharge harmful substances. The
potential interests were her role as Chair
of the Institute of Geological and Nuclear
Science Ltd (GNS) and her role as specialist
advisor to Advisian, which is a subsidiary
and consultancy arm of WorleyParsons
New Zealand. GNS has carried out a number
of assignments for OMV in the past, but
were not currently carrying out any work.
WorleyParsons manages and executes
specific projects for OMV. Dr Crauford’s
consultancy contract was with WorleyParsons,
but she operated under the Advisian brand
and did not carry out any work for OMV.
The person responsible for administering
Dr Crauford’s contract was not responsible
for any OMV contracts. Permission to act
was granted by the Chairperson of the
Board at the time (Kerry Prendergast),
with the conditions that Dr Crauford:
• excuse herself from any part of GNS board
meetings in which matters relating to OMV
may be discussed
• notify the EPA if she becomes aware of
Advisian or the New Zealand Manager of
Advisian becoming involved in any work
for OMV.
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Strategic direction

We are a proactive regulator
Our role as a proactive regulator underpins our
strategy for the next four years. It means we:
• anticipate challenges and problems
• set clear regulatory and enforcement
boundaries that drive a change in behaviour
• are risk and evidence based
• consider future challenges as we act and plan
today
• monitor global issues and collaborate with
international communities
• are independent, transparent, confident in
our decisions, and set our own agenda.

Our strategic direction
Over the next four years, we will shift from
our current focus on processing applications
and related work, to giving more emphasis
to compliance monitoring and enforcement,

and in engaging with communities and our
stakeholders.
Figure 2 depicts the direction of travel we are
taking in our organisational focus, and where
we will put our focus to deliver on our strategic
vision and goals.
The context for this future direction was set three
years ago, in our Statement of Intent 2016–2020,
when we committed to being an outwardfocussed and proactive organisation, customer
centric, and connected with New Zealanders.
Since then, we have invested in systems and
processes to improve customer experiences and
achieve operational efficiencies. This investment
has created headroom to allocate resources to
priority work areas that support our shift in the
organisational focus outlined in figure 2. Ongoing
investment in system improvements and people
capacity, will further support our shift in focus.

Figure 2: The EPA’s direction of travel

Current

Future

Processing
Compliance and Protection
Engagement
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The work we do

New Zealand’s national
environmental regulator
We are responsible for a range of environmental
functions that have a national focus and reach
(see Figure 3). Specific functions are specified
in six environmental Acts (detailed in Additional
information section).

Figure 3: The work we do
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

•

•

Chemicals – hazardous substances
Decision making
Māori engagement
Monitoring and enforcement
Hazardous substances database
International engagement
Science and communication
Consumer safety and awareness
Ozone layer depleting substances and
hazardous waste import and export
regulation

New organisms

Decision making
Māori engagement
International engagement
Science and communication

Resource Management Act

Support to Boards of Inquiry and Special
Tribunals hearing applications on nationally
significant proposals and Water Conservation
Orders, and supporting the public
engagement processes
Assistance to local authorities on significant
investigations and enforcement

•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Emissions Trading Scheme

Administering the ETS
Administering the New Zealand Emissions
Trading Register
Decision making
Monitoring and enforcement
International engagement

 ceans - Exclusive Economic Zone and
O
Continental Shelf
Marine consent decision making
Dumping and discharge consents
Māori engagement
Monitoring and enforcement
International engagement
Science and communication
Community engagement

Environmental regulation

EPA Notices and group standards
Controls on persistent organic pollutants
Input into environmental regulation and
policy development
EPA cost recovery
Reporting on New Zealand’s obligations
under international environmental
agreements
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Under the environmental Acts, we make
independent decisions about applications, and
compliance monitoring and enforcement.
Our overall objective is set out in the
Environmental Protection Authority Act 2011.
We undertake specific functions set out in the
Act in a way that:
• contributes to the efficient, effective and
transparent management of New Zealand’s
environment and natural and physical
resources, and
• enables New Zealand to meet its international
obligations.
As well, we must conduct our work in a way
that furthers the purposes specified in the
environmental Acts.
We are a Crown agent under the Crown entity
model, which means we operate at arm’s
length from Ministers. Our independence in
decision making is protected by statute and
the established governance structures. A letter
of expectations is issued by our responsible
Ministers annually which, within the context
of our independence, sets out the broad
expectations of the Government of the day.
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Our vision

An environment protected,
enhancing our way of life
and the economy
Our vision captures:
• the sentiment of the different environmental
laws we administer, as well as the high value
New Zealanders, and those who work at the
EPA, place on the environment
• the balance we seek, which ensures our
decisions give consideration to people, the
environment, and economic impact
• our Māori heritage, which embodies
the importance of the environment in
kaitiakitanga, through the creation story, and
whakapapa
• the spirit or wairua that underpins our work:
we want to do good for New Zealanders and
New Zealand.
The decisions we make have the potential to
shape New Zealand’s way of life for many years.
Their impact will live on, possibly for centuries,
in the environment and the social fabric of
New Zealand. We describe this as
‘making history’.

The vision is supported by our wawata from
He Whetū Mārama.

Wawata: Ka whai mōhio
ā Te Mana Rauhī Taiao
whakatau i te hononga ake,
i te hononga motuhake
a Ngāi Māori ki te taiao
The unique relationship
of Māori to the environment
informs EPA decision making
The wawata reflects our commitment to
respecting Te Tiriti o Waitangi, taking into
account tikanga (customs) and kawa (protocol).
It recognises that our decisions can be more
robust and effective when we incorporate
Māori perspectives.
He Whetū Mārama is the framework that
guides the EPA in undertaking its statutory and
other obligations to Māori, to integrate Māori
perspectives into process and policy.
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Our strategic goals

Our strategic goals are an enabler for improving wellbeing and quality of life.
They are supported by our strategic pillars:

1.

Protecting people and
the environment

2.

Delivering the right
decisions

3.

Strengthening trust
in the EPA

Our strategic pillars
Woven into how we approach our work and our vision, are four strategic pillars:

One EPA

Many experts, one authoritative voice,
supported by evidence and science

Customer Centric

Approaching our work from the start to
the finish with the customer front of mind

Partnership Plus

Working collaboratively for success

People Potential

Harnessing our people and their
potential for success
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1.	Protecting people and
the environment
Manaaki taiao - manaaki tāngata
Care for the environment –
care for the people
Our underlying objective is protecting people
and the environment. It underpins our chemicals,
new organisms, Exclusive Economic Zone and
Continental Shelf (EEZ), climate change response
and ozone layer protection work.

Chemicals
We regulate chemicals under the Hazardous
Substances and New Organisms Act 1996.
We set controls (or rules) about what, who and
how chemicals can be used. The controls also
regulate exposure, to minimise adverse impacts
on people and the environment.
All chemicals carry some degree of risk, which
can vary from minor (managed via labelling
instructions), to severe (needing strict controls),
to unacceptable, with the chemical banned.
Protecting communities and the environment
against the adverse effects of inappropriate
storage, use and disposal of chemicals is
the focus of our compliance monitoring and
enforcement work. Several chemical issues in
recent years have highlighted the importance
of compliance monitoring, to ensure substances
are stored, used and disposed of in line with
the rules.
New Zealand is a party to international
agreements that restrict the use of chemicals
known to have significant environmental impacts
and the movement of hazardous chemical
waste. For example, in 2018, New Zealand
implemented its obligations under the Stockholm
and Rotterdam Conventions to restrict the use of
certain fire retardants.

New organisms
We regulate new organisms that provide an
alternative to chemicals as a way of protecting
people and the environment. New biological
controls can alleviate unwanted pests and
weeds, and control critical incursions. New
organisms are being trialled in vaccines and
medicines to treat cancer and other diseases.
And new varieties of plants and crops may bring
economic benefit to the country.

As an island nation with unique flora and fauna,
there are strict rules about new organisms
entering New Zealand.

EEZ
Our role includes making decisions about
activities such as oil and gas exploration, seabed
mining, and discharge and dumping in the
context of species and environmental protection
and management.
New Zealand’s EEZ is approximately 20 times our
land mass. It is the largest environmental area in
New Zealand. Sound environmental management
of the EEZ is an incumbent responsibility as
part of the United Nations Convention on the
Law of the Sea, the mandate for New Zealand’s
jurisdiction over the EEZ.
The context for our environmental management
role, both decision making and compliance
monitoring, is that multiple and cumulative
human pressures cause changes to
New Zealand’s oceans, coastal marine
habitats, and wildlife. More than one-quarter
of our marine mammal species are reported
to be threatened with extinction, including the
New Zealand sea lion and species of dolphins
and whales. These animals have important roles
in marine ecosystems and are taonga (treasures)
to Māori. Their fragile state is due to multiple
historic and present-day pressures.

Climate change response and ozone layer
protection mechanisms
We administer the Emissions Trading Scheme
(ETS), the government’s key tool for meeting
greenhouse gas emission reduction targets and
supporting the transition to a low-emissions
economy.
Climate change is regarded as the biggest
environmental challenge of our time. If left
unchecked it will have broad social and
economic impacts.
We also manage the permitting system that
controls the phasing out or managed use of
ozone-depleting substances.
New Zealand is a party to the Montreal Protocol
under the Vienna Convention, which facilitates
global cooperation in reversing the rapid decline
in atmospheric concentrations of ozone, by
phasing out certain ozone-depleting substances.
In 2016, New Zealand adopted the Kigali
amendment to the Montreal Protocol. It restricts
the use of 18 hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs).
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Protecting people and the environment
is not just our responsibility
We want to work collaboratively with industry,
Māori, the community, and across government.
There are many challenges to achieving positive
outcomes for people and the environment, and
working together will help us to achieve success.

2.	Delivering the right
decisions
Nā te waewae i kimi
One who works hard achieves
a desired result
We make decisions related to:
• hazardous substances, new organisms and
EEZ applications
• compliance monitoring and enforcement
work
• the ETS and the New Zealand Emissions
Trading Register (the Register)
• ozone layer-depleting substances: their
import, export, and use controls, and
hazardous waste import and export controls
• developing and amending hazardous
substances EPA Notices, and group
standards, and setting fees
• EEZ decommissioning plans for structures
such as drilling platforms.
The decisions made will not always please
everyone. So they must be robust enough
to withstand challenges, be transparent and
understood. The challenge is to balance the
many considerations that need to be taken
into account, while enhancing the wellbeing of
present and future generations. They include:
• effects on human health
• the intrinsic value of ecosystems
• safeguarding the life-supporting capacity
of the environment
• economic and related benefits and impacts
• the relationship of Māori and their culture and
traditions with their ancestral lands, water
sites, wāhi tapu, valued flora and fauna, and
other taonga.
Alongside the specific legislative requirements,
we recognise and respect the Crown’s
responsibility to take appropriate account of
Te Tiriti o Waitangi, and we must have regard
to natural justice and fairness principles.
A decision maker considers the evidence and
data presented, and may seek more information.
How negative impacts can be mitigated against

or prevented through conditions and controls is
also taken into account by the decision maker.
The range of information and views is then
weighed in a fair and transparent manner to
make an informed, independent decision. Every
decision requires a judgement and has an impact.
When considering decisions involving
compliance activities and action, there is a
range of interventions, from education through
to prosecution. We direct our resources to the
greatest areas of risk and negative impact and,
taking into account the available information and
evidence, we determine the right intervention for
the circumstances. We will not be afraid to take
enforcement action when this is required.

3.	Strengthening trust
in the EPA
He aha te kai a te rangatira?
He kōrero, he kōrero, he kōrero
What is the food of the leader?
It is knowledge, it is communication
We want New Zealanders to trust our decisions,
and know that we are putting our efforts into the
work that matters to them.
There is public debate about some chemicals
we approve. There is controversy over some of
the applications we consider for extraction and
exploration in the EEZ.
It’s important that we retain and grow the
respect and confidence of New Zealanders, that
we hear their voices, and listen to their concerns.
Our decisions benefit from the wide range of
views and information we receive through public
submissions on applications.
We consider open and clear communication
is a key element of strengthening trust, and
knowledge about the EPA’s work. For example,
providing useful and accessible information
to the public about the adverse effects of
hazardous substances on people and the
environment builds trust in our work, as does
clearly communicating the basis of decisions
made, especially on controversial applications of
high public interest.
We have an open book approach to our
decisions, the information and data we hold.
Unless there is a justifiable reason, we will
publish our work in reports or on our website.
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Our work priorities

Emissions Trading Scheme
The effective operation of the ETS, and the
integrity of the Register, are fundamental to the
Government’s commitment to transitioning to
a sustainable, low-emissions economy. Policy
changes to the ETS, to strengthen compliance
and the scheme’s overall integrity, will require
technical and operational adjustments to
the Register. These adjustments will support
potential linking of the Register with overseas
registries, if this is needed to access international
emission units.
The possible addition of agricultural emissions to
the ETS could place significant demands on the
Register, and other ETS functions.

Chemical modernisation
This foundation programme aims to modernise
how chemicals are regulated, delivering
a modern, innovative, and fit for purpose
regulatory and compliance system. It involves
updating the hazardous substances classification
system, replacing the hazardous substances
database, and chemicals reassessments.

Hazardous substances classification system
The Globally Harmonised System of
Classification and Labelling of Chemicals
(GHS) is the single internationally agreed
system of chemical classification and hazard
communication. Adopting the GHS is a binding
obligation for OECD member countries.
New Zealand’s major trading partners all
use the GHS.
We will transition our chemical classification
system to the most up to date GHS and develop
a new hazardous substances database to support
it, by mid 2021. Our hazardous substances
database is the source of the greatest traffic
on our website, and the primary information
repository for staff, applicants and potential

applicants, and other New Zealand and
international users.

Reassessments
Under the Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Act, once a chemical (substance) is
approved the approval remains in place with the
same controls until it is reassessed.
New Zealand has about 9,000 approved
substances. Substances can also be approved
under group standards, which cover a wide
range of chemicals. Many chemical approvals
have been carried forward from previous regimes
when the Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Act came into effect in 2001. They
have not been reassessed to check that their
controls still protect people and the environment
appropriately.
Reassessments are the primary mechanism
for us to:
• evaluate new information on the human and
environmental health impacts of certain
chemicals, and new use patterns of chemicals
• take action to ensure there are appropriate
controls in place to address the risk to people
and the environment.
We have established a new team whose sole
responsibility is undertaking reassessments,
including reviewing group standards. That team
has already established a Priority Chemical List
which forms the basis for our reassessment work.
Reassessments are resource intensive in terms
of staff and funding. With current staffing
and funding, we can only manage one or two
reassessments each year. We are seeking further
funding to advance this work.
Examples of the types of chemicals on the
priority list are on our website: www.epa.govt.
nz/industry-areas/hazardous-substances/
chemical-reassessment-programme/
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Compliance monitoring
and enforcement
In the next four years, we will be more proactive
in enforcing compliance, addressing potential
problems before they become significant issues.
Increased hazardous substances compliance
monitoring and enforcement have been made
possible since changes to the Hazardous
Substances and New Organisms Act came
into effect in December 2017. Our recent
investigation into the illegal storage and use of
PFOS13 in fire-fighting foams was undertaken
with these new powers.
We have established a team to assist
local authorities with significant investigations
and enforcement under the Resource
Management Act.
Anticipated changes to the Climate Change
Response Act 2002 will enable increased
enforcement of compliance with the NZETS.
Our EEZ compliance work will continue with
a focus on high-risk activities, such as the
management of discharges from oil and gas
extraction and drilling operations, and the
conditions of dumping consents.

Community and
Māori engagement
Giving voice
The strength of democracy in decision
making and giving ordinary New Zealanders
voice in the work that we do, is part
of being a proactive regulator.
We will be increasing the frequency and quality
of engagement with communities, Māori,
and specialised groups in our domain, such
as science educators and environmental nongovernment organisations.

13	PFOS is the abbreviation for the chemical perfluorooctane
sulfonate, widely used in fire-fighting foams from the 1960s to
the 1990s. In 2011, an international decision recognised PFOS as
a persistent organic pollutant.

We want to give voice to the most diverse
range of New Zealanders as we can, including
different ethnic groups, Pacific communities,
and workers across high risk industries. Two
specific programmes of work in this area are our
Safer Homes Programme and our Te Herenga
network 14. As a proactive regulator, we are also
committed to an open book approach to the
information we hold, making it easy for people
to find out about the work we are doing and the
decisions we are making on their behalf.

Safety around chemicals
Household cleaning products are the largest
group of hazardous substances resulting in
hospitalisations and calls to the National Poisons
Centre. The rate of hospitalisations is highest for
children under five years old.
Our Safer Homes Programme provides easy to
understand advice and simple ways to help
keep families safe when using, storing and
disposing of household chemicals (from
shampoos and make-up to garden pesticides
and cleaning products).
The programme has a specific focus on
improving the wellbeing of children, especially in
target areas which data shows are more likely to
have incidents related to hazardous substances.
There are flow on benefits to improving the
health and wellbeing of all New Zealanders,
and of the environment.
Our Safer Homes team attend community
events, visit schools and partner with like-minded
organisations to help get our safety messages to
as many people as possible.

Strengthening our Te Herenga Network
We aim to strengthen our relationship with our
Te Herenga Network. This team of volunteers
was established 16 years ago, and provides
valuable support to our Safer Homes Programme
and to our mātauranga Māori work.

14	Te Herenga, our national Māori network, is a forum for kaitiaki
and environmental resource managers to come together and
discuss important environmental issues.
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Science and
regulatory leadership
Science and regulation sit side by side in our
work. They may not follow the same pathways,
but there are similarities between the two
approaches.
Science starts with an idea, issue or theory,
formulates to a hypothesis, which is then tested
by experimentation, which, in turn, builds a body
of evidence.
Regulation starts with a social need, or issue,
the development of options and then a favoured
proposal, tested through consultation, refined
and developed, and passed into a law.
Regulatory science is where science and
regulation meet; the discipline in which
traditional scientific tools, applications,
approaches and information are used to support
regulatory and policy objectives.
We will be taking our place among
New Zealand regulators and the global network
of environmental regulators, viewed as smart
and effective. It means our regulatory science
must be of the highest standard as well as
pragmatic. We want to demonstrate this when
we participate in OECD Committees and United
Nations bodies.
We are strengthening our work with Australian
EPA counterparts through HEPA, the Heads of
EPAs across Australia and New Zealand and the
Commonwealth. We share many similarities
and interests, and there are efficiencies to be
gained, for the good of New Zealand, through
working together.
We are also developing relationships with
environmental bodies in Canada, the United
States, and Europe.

Mātauranga Māori
incorporated into
decision making
Our mātauranga Māori programme is designed
to weave mātauranga and conventional science
to create a uniquely New Zealand way of
addressing environmental issues. Mātauranga
incorporates Māori philosophy and knowledge,
including both tangible and intangible matters,
and has a strong oral tradition.

We have developed a mātauranga framework,
the first framework of its kind in the natural
resources sector, as a tool for EPA decision
makers to understand, probe, and test
mātauranga evidence effectively. We are
now moving to the stage of implementing the
framework, and refining, as necessary, with the
experience of its use.

Investment priorities
To support our six work priorities, requires
investment in:
• Recommendations for legislative reform
• Systems and technology
• People capacity.

Recommendations for
legislative reform
We want to reduce the risks posed by hazardous
substances. In 2018, in collaboration with the
Ministry for the Environment (MfE), we initiated a
review of the hazardous substances compliance
system. The review is being undertaken by an
independent Technical Working Group.
The Group is looking across the hazardous
substances compliance system, to decide
whether it is fit for purpose, and to recommend
improvements. It will report back in mid-2019.
Together with MfE, we will then work on how to
progress recommendations.
We will also work with MfE, providing technical
and operational knowledge to potential
areas where amendments to the Hazardous
Substances and New Organisms Act would
improve the regulatory system for chemicals
management. These have been identified from
the Chemical Modernisation Programme,
including how we can effectively recognise
international trusted regulators.

Recognising international trusted regulators
The concept of a trusted regulator involves using
international data and assessments from other
regulators, as appropriate to the
New Zealand circumstances. The aim is to
become more efficient, reduce the regulatory
burden for industry and build a globallyrecognised approvals approach for chemical
regulation. Trusted regulators will have
processes and standards that are recognised as
similar to, or in alignment with, New Zealand.
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Systems and technology
Investment in new systems and technologies
continues the major work we began three
years ago. This included major upgrades of the
Register, a major upgrade of our website, and
new financial management and human resources
systems. Our next major project is investing in
our knowledge hub, an interconnected system of
information databases.
We are also developing automated processes
for our customers and investigating automated
processing of some applications. We also are
considering investment in intelligence systems to
support our compliance work.

People capacity
People capacity is essential to shift our
organisation to being proactive and outcome
focussed, and is a key investment priority for the
EPA. The section, Our Organisational Capability,
outlines our people strategy.
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Our work aims to
enhance New Zealanders’
wellbeing, quality of life
and environment
Here’s how our work relates to the four wellbeing
capitals, in line with The Treasury’s Living
Standards Framework.

Human capital

Our Chemical Modernisation and Safer Homes Programmes
contribute to building the stock of human capital by improving
quality of life, and health through reducing exposure to chemicals,
and reducing the risks around their use.

Natural capital

Our EEZ work is to manage the risk of environmental harm to
natural capital. This work supports biodiversity, the intrinsic
environmental value of the oceans, the special connection of Māori
to the oceans, the productive capacity of fishing, and the role of
the oceans in climate change management.
Our management of the environmental risks of chemicals considers
the impacts on natural capital from overuse, or inappropriate use
of chemicals. Our ozone-depleting substances, and hazardous
waste work addresses past negative impacts on natural capital
from these chemicals.
Chemicals and new organisms, such as 1080, play a major role in
controlling possums, rats and stoats. New biological-control
agents aid weed or pest control.
The ETS is the government’s key tool for addressing the causes of
climate change, which directly affect natural capital.

Financial/
physical capital

The New Zealand Emissions Trading Register, the hazardous
substances database, and the Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Application Register are part of New Zealand’s physical
capital. Investment in these maintains or increases the physical
capital.
Returns from extraction undertaken in the EEZ, and increased
productivity through approved chemicals all contribute to
New Zealand’s financial capital.

Social capital

Social capital is maintained when New Zealanders know there is
strong environmental management of chemicals, new organisms,
and activities in the EEZ. Providing opportunities for Māori and
community voices to be heard, and the EPA’s mātauranga Māori
Programme relates to social capital.
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How we will know
we’re succeeding

The measures set out below will be used to
assess our performance to achieve or contribute
to our strategic objectives. The measures apply
across our strategic goals and strategic pillars.
Each year, in our Statement of Performance
Expectations, we will set out specific targets that
are to monitor the progress we are making to
meet the measures. There is not readily available
data that shows precisely how our work has

improved outcomes for New Zealanders and the
environment. However, we monitor data that
may show the impact of our work, for example,
Ministry of Health data on hospitalisations
attributed to hazardous substances, persistent
organic pollutants detected in breast milk and
serum, and the total diet survey undertaken
by the Ministry for Primary Industries. We are
looking into an approach to measure our work’s
environmental impact.

Measures to assess our performance
New Zealanders trust the EPA
New Zealanders know about the EPA, what we are doing, and why
The risks to New Zealanders and the environment associated with the use of chemicals has reduced
Māori perspectives, including mātauranga Māori, are woven into EPA decisions, policies,
and processes
The EPA contributes science and regulatory leadership in New Zealand and internationally
No approved organisms have had unanticipated negative side effects, for example, have become
pests or weeds
EEZ decisions are transparent
The EPA’s ETS work is helping New Zealand’s transition to a low-emissions economy
The New Zealand Emissions Trading Register is run in accordance with legislation, efficiently and
effectively, and is secure
Improving environmental, safety, and health outcomes through proactive compliance monitoring
and enforcement
Hazardous substances, new organisms, EEZ, Ozone Layer Protection Act,
and Imports and Exports (Restrictions) Act:
• decision-making processes are documented
• decisions meet statutory obligations and timeframes
• there is no adverse judicial comment on EPA processes
Proposals of national significance, water conservation order, and EEZ marine consent applications
considered by a Board of Inquiry or Special Tribunal:
• EPA processes to support decision making are documented
• EPA’s statutory obligations and timeframes are met
• there is no adverse judicial comment on EPA processes
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Organisational
capability

He kura te tangata
The human being is precious as
is each person’s contribution to
the wellbeing of the group

Capable staff are core to
the EPA’s work
At March 2019, the EPA had 195 staff. Technical
skills of staff include: toxicology and chemistry,
biology and microbial science, marine science,
Resource Management Act and planning, Māori
lore, accountancy, law, communications and
engagement.
We invest in ongoing staff development with the
following focus:
• Leadership – key to implementing
our strategic direction, and a resilient
organisation
• Regulatory and technical expertise – key to
being a proactive regulator. This includes
staff undertaking Government Regulatory
Practice (G-Reg) training
• Compliance capability – a key element is our
warranting programme covering investigative
skills, powers, and responsibilities that
underpins growing
core capability
• Science expertise – key to evidence-based,
independent decision making. Our scientists
are supported to maintain their knowledge.
We encourage science discourse and sharing
expertise
• Māori culture and language – staff Te Reo
classes, and a cultural learning programme.

Staff perspectives
The results of our 2017 employee engagement
survey, compared to the previous 2015
survey, showed a positive trend in employee
engagement with improvements in 12 of the
13 sections, an overall Performance Index rating

increase from 55 percent to 65 percent, and staff
agreeing the EPA has a clear vision and direction
increasing from 32 percent to 72 percent. Most
staff participated in workshops in 2018 and 2019
on developing the strategic direction for the next
four years.

Good employer obligations,
health and safety,
and resilience
We are committed to the principles and practice
of equal opportunity, a diverse workplace and
inclusive culture, and an environment that
enables each person to safely share their views,
and perform to the best of their ability. We
report to the Human Rights Commission annually
on good employer measures.
We are committed to protecting all workers
and visitors by providing and maintaining a
safe working environment, and by taking all
reasonably practicable steps to prevent illness,
injury or damage from work carried out by, and
on behalf of, the EPA.
We have business continuity plans. Our IT
systems are situated in data centres that can
cope with and recover from disasters. Staff can
work remotely, either partially or fully, provided
internet access is available. One aspect of
investment in a new knowledge hub is to improve
the resilience of access to data in an emergency
in Wellington.

Risk management
We have a risk management policy,
organisational risk framework and risk register to
help identify and manage risks. Our Board’s Audit
and Risk Committee oversees this work.
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Our own
environmental
commitment
We are committed to
making a positive difference
to the environment
We are a CEMARS® (Certified Emissions
Measurement and Reduction Scheme)
certified organisation.
To achieve our CEMARS commitment, we will:
• Measure and manage our carbon emissions,
and have this process externally verified
annually
• Set emissions reduction targets and take
active steps to achieve them
• Report publicly on our carbon emissions and
progress towards our targets
• Increase our knowledge of the environmental
impacts associated with our organisation
• Reduce our carbon emissions per FTE by 30
June 2021 of
−− waste-to-landfill and paper usage,
by 15 percent
−− electricity consumption, by 8 percent
−− staff travel emissions, by 8 percent
• Identify system and behaviour changes
needed to achieve our carbon emission
targets
• Demonstrate the EPA’s commitment to
environmental responsibility (low waste, low
carbon emissions) in all our procurement
contracts and purchasing decisions
• Connect with other government
organisations that are working to reduce their
environmental impacts.
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Additional information

1.	Environment Acts under
which EPA has functions
Act

Purpose

What we do

Environmental
Protection
Authority
Act 2011

To establish the EPA and to provide
for its functions and operation

Contribute to national science leadership
on environment issues, and provide advice
on the implementation of government
policy, environmental legislation and
regulations. This includes providing advice
to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade
on environmental impact assessments for
activities in Antarctica. We participate, and
help represent New Zealand’s interests,
in the work of international bodies dealing
with climate change, chemicals regulation,
chemicals and ozone-depleting substances
governed by international conventions, and
the regulation of hazardous substances,
hazardous waste and new organisms.

Climate Change
Response
Act 2002

a. To enable New Zealand to meet
its international obligations under
the [United Nations Framework]
Convention [on Climate Change]
and the [Kyoto] Protocol
b. To provide for the implementation,
operation and administration of a
greenhouse gas emissions trading
scheme in New Zealand that supports
and encourages global efforts to
reduce greenhouse gas emissions by i. assisting New Zealand to meet its
international obligations under the
Convention and the Protocol, and
ii. reducing New Zealand’s net
emissions of those gases below
business-as-usual levels.

Administer the New Zealand Emissions Trading
Scheme (ETS) and maintain the
New Zealand Emissions Trading Register.
This includes making decisions and
ensuring compliance with the ETS rules,
enabling the holding and transfer of
climate change units, meeting statutory
reporting requirements under the Climate
Change Response Act, and contributing
to inventory reporting requirements.
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Act

Purpose

What we do

Exclusive
Economic Zone
and Continental
Shelf
(Environmental
Effects)
Act 2012

a. To promote the sustainable
management of the natural resources
of the exclusive economic zone
and the continental shelf, and
b. In relation to the exclusive economic
zone, the continental shelf, and
the waters above the continental
shelf beyond the outer limits of the
exclusive economic zone, to protect
the environment from pollution by
regulating or prohibiting the discharge
of harmful substances and the dumping
or incineration of waste or other matter.
Sustainable management is defined as
“managing the use, development, and
protection of natural resources in a way,
or at a rate, that enables people to provide
for their economic well-being while -

Regulate certain activities within the exclusive
economic zone and continental shelf, for
example the environmental effects of oil and
gas production, seabed mining, and dumping
and discharge. This includes determining
applications for consents and rulings.
Provide information on subjects such
as when approvals and consents are
needed, how to apply for them, and how to
participate in the publicly notified consent
application processes we manage.

a. sustaining the potential of natural
resources (excluding minerals) to meet
the reasonably foreseeable needs of
future generations; and
b. safeguarding the life-supporting
capacity of the environment; and
c. avoiding, remedying, or mitigating any
adverse effects of activities on the
environment.”
Hazardous
Substances and
New Organisms
Act 1996

To protect the environment and
the health and safety of people and
communities, by preventing or managing
the adverse effects of hazardous
substances and new organisms.

Make decisions about whether or not to
approve pesticides, dangerous goods,
household chemicals and other hazardous
substances. We also undertake reassessments
of these substances and monitor compliance
and enforce the rules, together with WorkSafe
New Zealand, local authorities, and other
agencies, plus have a system stewardship role.
Issue EPA Notices, which set the rules
relating to the classification, labelling,
packaging, information requirements,
controls that apply outside of the workplace,
controls for environmental protection that
apply within workplaces, and disposal of
pesticides, dangerous goods, household
chemicals and other hazardous substances.
Make decisions on new organisms (living
things that are new to New Zealand), and
oversee the monitoring of approvals. New
organisms include organisms which were
not present in New Zealand before 29 July
1998, and genetically modified organisms.
Provide information on subjects such as
the safe use and handling of chemicals,
when approvals and consents are needed,
how to apply for them, and how to
participate in the publicly notified approval
application processes we manage.
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Act

Purpose

What we do

Imports
and Exports
(Restrictions)
Act 1988

To set restrictions and obligations
on the trans-boundary movements
of certain chemicals and hazardous
waste of international concern.

Regulate certain chemicals and hazardous
waste controlled by international
environmental agreements, in accordance
with our international obligations.

Ozone Layer
Protection Act
1996

a. To help protect human health and the
environment from adverse effects
resulting or likely to result from
human activities which modify or are
likely to modify the ozone layer;
b. safeguarding the life-supporting
capacity
of the environment; and
c. To fulfil New Zealand’s obligations
under the [Vienna] Convention [for the
Protection of the Ozone Layer] and the
[Montreal] Protocol [on Substances
that Deplete the Ozone Layer].

Regulate ozone-depleting substances controlled
by international environmental agreements, in
accordance with our international obligations.

Resource
Management
Act 1991

To promote the sustainable management
of natural and physical resources.
Sustainable management is defined as
“managing the use, development, and
protection of natural resources in a way,
or at a rate, that enables people to provide
for their economic well-being while a. sustaining the potential of natural
resources (excluding minerals) to
meet the reasonably foreseeable
needs of future generations; and
b. safeguarding the life-supporting
capacity of the environment; and
c. avoiding, remedying, or mitigating
any adverse effects of activities
on the environment.”

Administer applications for nationally significant
proposals and water conservation orders under
the Resource Management Act, which includes
providing support for Boards of Inquiry.
Assistance to local authorities on significant
investigations and enforcement.
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2. Governance
The EPA Board
The EPA is governed by a Board, appointed
by the Minister for the Environment and the
Associate Minister for the Environment, under
the Crown Entities Act 2004.

Board committees
The Board has appointed two standing
committees to help carry out its governance
responsibilities:
• Audit and Risk Committee: oversees
accountability processes, and financial and
organisational risks
• Performance Review and Remuneration
Committee: monitors the Chief Executive’s
performance and approves the remuneration
structure.

Statutory committees
We are supported by two statutory committees:
• Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao (Māori Advisory
Committee) provides advice and assistance
from a Māori perspective to the Board and
EPA on policy, process, and decisions of the
EPA under our Acts.
• The Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Committee hears and decides
certain applications made under the
Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Act.
For certain marine consent applications under
the Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental
Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012 , the
Board appoints decision-making committees, in
accordance with the Crown Entities Act 2004.
We work closely with independent Boards
of Inquiry appointed by the Minister for the
Environment to make decisions on nationally
significant proposals, water conservation orders,
and some marine consent applications. While
these decisions are not made by the EPA, we
support each Board to run the process.

3. 	Information required
under section 147 of the
Hazardous Substances
and New Organisms
Act 1996
The following specific information is required
under section 147 of the Hazardous Substances
and New Organisms Act.

1. New borrowing or finance leases
The EPA does not have any borrowings or finance
leases. The EPA has a capital asset replacement
programme which is updated annually.

2. Consideration given to imposing an
environmental charge
We may consider whether an environmental user
charge would be an effective tool in reducing
adverse effects of a hazardous substance. The
use of EPA controls has been considered to be
the most effective means of managing the risks
throughout the lifecycles of the substances
approved to date.

3. Information

on decisions under section
62 – Grounds for reassessment of a
substance or organism
Table 1 (on the following page) lists those
grounds for reassessment requests decided
between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2019.
Grounds for reassessment requests may be made
by any person or the chief executive of the EPA.
The latter are noted in the table as the applicant
being the EPA. Details of the application may be
found on the EPA website by reference to the
application number.
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Table 1: Grounds for reassessment decisions 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2019
Short name

Active ingredient

Applicant and
application number

Decision

Date decided

Chemical Review 2015 (involved modifications to the hazard
classifications, controls and/or the substance description
for 242 approvals. These approvals are for substances
that are single chemicals, mixtures, and mixtures affected
by the changes proposed to the single chemicals)

EPA, APP202227

Grounds exist
for reassessment

1/06/2016

RF-011

pyrethrins

Renovo
APP202873

Grounds exist
for reassessment

6/07/2016

Triclosan

triclosan

Green Party
of Aotearoa
New Zealand,
APP202598

Grounds exist
for reassessment

2/08/2016

Clopyralid-containing
products

clopyralid

WasteMINZ,
APP202867

Grounds exist
for reassessment

16/12/2016

Luna Privilege and Luna
Sensation

fluopyram

Bayer,
APP203182

Grounds exist
for reassessment

4/04/2017

EnSpray 99 ®

Petroleum distillate
(CAS 64742-55-8)

Grosafe
Chemicals,
APP203298

Grounds exist
for reassessment

23/06/2017

Paraquat grounds

paraquat

EPA, APP202788

Grounds exist
for reassessment

3/07/2017

Exirel

cyantraniliprole

DuPont,
APP203303

Grounds exist
for reassessment

31/08/2017

Methyl Bromide

methyl-bromide

Stakeholders in
Methyl Bromide
Reduction Inc,
APP203465

Grounds exist
for reassessment

5/04/2018

Bromomethane

methyl-bromide

PMANZ,
APP203435

Grounds do
not exist for
reassessment

1/08/2018

Moddus Evo

trinexapac-ethyl

Syngenta,
APP203374

Grounds exist
for reassessment

20/09/2018

Synthetic pyrethroids

bifenthrin; bioresmethrin;
cyfluthrin; cyhalothrin; lambdacyhalothrin; cypermethrin;
alpha-cypermethrin;
deltamethrin; fenvalerate;
permethrin; tetramethrin

EPA,
APP203683

Grounds
exist for
reassessment

12/10/2018

Meteor

metamitron

Agrinova,
APP203546

Grounds
exist for
reassessment

12/11/2018

Monomethylamine
and Methylamine
hydrochloride

monomethylamine

Eastman,
APP203350

Grounds
exist for
reassessment

13/11/2018

Sprinter 700DS

2,4-D

Nufarm,
APP203351

Grounds
exist for
reassessment

13/11/2018
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For completeness, Table 2 lists reassessment
requests decided between 1 April 2016 and
31 March 2019. Any person or the chief
executive of the EPA may request a
reassessment following a decision that
there are grounds for reassessment.

Table 2: Reassessment requests decided 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2019
Applicant and
application number

Decision

Date decided

mesotrione

Syngenta,
APP202063

Approved with
controls

6/04/2016

Firebird

flufenacet; diflufenican

Bayer,
APP201977

Approved with
controls

30/05/2016

Chemical Review
2012–2014

See grounds above

EPA,
APP202482

Approved with
controls

21/06/2016

DuPont Exirel
Insecticide

cyantraniliprole

DuPont,
APP202774

Modifications
proposed
declined

1/09/2016

Chlorothalonilcontaining fungicide
substances

chlorothalonil

EPA,
APP202349

Partially
approved with
controls

6/04/2017

Luna Privilege. Luna
Sensation

fluopyram; trifloxystrobin

Bayer,
APP203261

Approved with
controls

5/11/2018

Short name

Active ingredient

Callisto
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Statement of
Performance
Expectations
2019/20

05

How we will know
we’re succeeding

Our performance measures and targets set out
below allow us to measure the effect our priority
work has on achieving our strategic objectives.
The measures focus on the strategic shifts we
would like to make.
We measure how we are tracking through our
yearly SPE targets.
Performance measures

Trend

2019/20 target

New Zealanders trust
the EPA

+

Increased number of media (print/social/all media) references to
the EPA compared to 2018/19, and overall positive references

=

Follow-up action is communicated in response to
customers’ feedback about their dealings with the EPA,
including on how useful they found the EPA’s website

=

Report to the Board on a possible approach to modelling
EPA’s customer centricity capability, by 30 June 2020

+

Public Sector Trust and Confidence Survey shows a trend
of similar or increased trust and confidence in the EPA

+

An assessment of communication channels used by the EPA
(media, radio, social media, website, Linked-In) shows there
has been an increase in reach, compared to 2018/19

=

A community engagement work programme, (with an
increased number of engagement events compared to
2018/19) is advised to the Board by 31 July 2019

=

The community engagement work programme is
published on the EPA website, by 31 August 2019

New Zealanders know
about the EPA, what
we are doing, and why

+ Increase
= Achieve
– Decrease
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Performance measures

Trend

2019/20 target

The risks to
New Zealanders and the
environment associated
with the use of
chemicals has reduced

=

25 percent of chemicals on the 2018 priority chemicals list are
reassessed or are undergoing an active reassessment

=

Amended Fire Fighting Chemicals Group
Standard 2017, by 30 June 2020

=

Consultation on amended Hazardous Substances
(Disposal) Notice 2017, by 30 June 2020

=

Amended Hazardous Substances (Storage and Disposal of
Persistent Organic Pollutants) Notice 2004, by 30 June 2020

+

An increase in hits to the EPA’s social media and website
pages on safety around chemicals, compared to 2018/19

–

Rates of hospitalisations of children attributed to accidental
exposure to chemicals show overall a declining trend

=

Independent audit of a selection of EPA decisions, policies, and
processes demonstrates Māori perspectives have been taken
into account, and there have been no adverse judicial comments
on how they have informed decisions, policies, and processes

+

Increased number of submissions from iwi and hapū that
provide Māori perspectives, including mātauranga Māori,
compared to 2018/19 (assessed every two years)

=

EPA staff are invited to speak at science, technical,
or specialist conferences or similar events

=

EPA staff contribute to science, technical, or specialist journals or
publications, including providing input into research priorities

=

EPA experts invited to contribute technical and science expertise to
committees associated with international agreements, and the OECD

=

Participation at the Heads of Australia and New Zealand
EPAs (HEPA) meetings and other forums, as appropriate

=

Sample of a minimum of 25 central and local government
contacts provides positive feedback on the EPA’s regulatory
and operational contributions to both sector-wide
government work and responding to specific queries

=

Independent audit of a sample of approvals (over 5 years old)
reviews whether:
• approved organisms have had no unanticipated negative side effects
• there have not been compliance problems with approval conditions
• positive value can be attributed to the use of these organisms

Māori perspectives,
including mātauranga
Māori, are woven into
EPA decisions, policies,
and processes

The EPA contributes
science and regulatory
leadership in
New Zealand and
internationally

No approved organisms
have had unanticipated
negative side effects,
for example, have
become pests or weeds

+ Increase
= Achieve
– Decrease
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Performance measures

Trend

2019/20 target

Exclusive Economic
Zone (EEZ) decisions
are transparent

=

An independent audit demonstrates EEZ decisions:
• have taken into account sustainable management
and the balance between use and protection
• there have been no adverse judicial comments
on how they have informed decisions
• decision-making processes are documented and transparent

=

Appropriate enforcement action is taken where monitoring
shows non-compliance (6-monthly report to the Board)

=

Marine consent annual monitoring reports and post-activity reports are
reviewed and a summary provided annually
to the Board.

=

Key government agencies involved in the ETS or in transitioning to
a low-emissions economy agree their dealings with the EPA, and
the quality of the EPA’s contributions to their work, are positive

The EPA’s Emissions Trading
Scheme (ETS) work is
helping New Zealand’s
transition to a
low-emissions economy
+ Increase
= Achieve
– Decrease
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Our outputs

Statement of
appropriations 2019/20
The EPA has three streams of operating revenue:
Crown funding, revenue-generating activities,
and other business revenue. Crown funding is
provided through the three appropriations in
Vote Environment as displayed below:
1. EPA Decision-making Functions
2. EPA Monitoring and Enforcement Functions
3. Emissions Trading Scheme.

In addition, it is forecast that Crown funding
will be provided for one-off capital expenditure
related to the development of the Hazardous
Substances (HS) Database. The HS Database
project is expected to span across more
than one financial year, and will involve both
operating and capital expenditure during its
implementation. For the year 2019/20, the Crown
funding for capital expenditure is forecast to be
approximately $1.25 million.

Table 3: Appropriations – Total Crown funding
Appropriations (GST exclusive)

Estimated
actual 2018/19

Forecast 2019/20

12,383

12,448

EPA Monitoring and Enforcement Functions

6,742

7,277

Emissions Trading Scheme

6,392

6,392

25,517

26,117

0

1,250

25,517

27,367

In thousands of NZD

EPA Decision-making Functions

Crown funding for Operating Expenses
Crown funding for one-off Capital expenditure*
TOTAL CROWN FUNDING
* Separate Appropriation for capital expenditure related to HS Database implementation

Forecast statement
of expenditure and
funding sources
Table 4 shows total expenditure by appropriation
class, and how each of the total output
expenditure will be funded by the Crown,
by fee-generating activities, and other revenue
(e.g. interest). Also included in the table is the
one-off Crown funding for capital expenditure
related to the development of the hazardous
substances database.

The EPA plans to run a ‘deficit budget operating
model’ in 2019/20, consistent with the approach
in the previous year. The budgeted net deficit
for the year of $3.370 million is forecast to
be incurred in order to deliver our strategic
intentions, and this includes the EPA’s annual
programme of work.
The majority of the programme of work
comprises a number of system and business
improvement projects for which no separate
funding has been provided. In recent years, the
investments in system improvement projects
has involved a shift from investing in capital
infrastructure to operational cloud-based
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systems. This was in line with the Government’s
policy for agencies to adopt cloud services in
preference to traditional on-the-premises
IT systems. Funding received to cover asset
replacement from depreciation and amortisation,
which accumulates in reserves, is now spent on
the programme of work operational expenses.
The forecast therefore reflects our plan to
fund our 2019/20 programme of work from our
accumulated reserves.
From a financial reporting perspective, the
impact of using the EPA’s accumulated reserves
to fund the costs of our programme of work will

be reflected in a ‘net deficit’ position for each of
our appropriation classes, and in our statement
of comprehensive revenue and expense.
The annual programme of work ensures that
there is continuous improvement in the way that
the EPA operates. Key projects that will deliver
business efficiencies and system improvements
have been identified for the next three years. The
EPA’s accumulated reserves, however, are not
substantial, and we will continue to be prudent
in our approach to spending, and to carefully
monitor our accumulated reserves position in
order to ensure financial sustainability.

Table 4: Appropriations – Output expenses balanced against revenue
2019/20 Appropriation
description

Total output
expenses

Revenue fees

Revenue other

Revenue
Crown

Net Surplus /
(Deficit)*

(18,989)

2,359

88

12,448

(4,094)

EPA Monitoring and
Enforcement Functions

(7,666)

95

46

7,277

(248)

Emissions Trading Scheme

(6,715)

-

45

6,392

(278)

n/a

n/a

n/a

1,250

1,250

(33,370)

2,454

179

27,367

(3,370)

In thousands of NZD

EPA Decision-making Functions

One-off capital expenditure
TOTAL
* Net deficit will be funded from accumulated reserves

Expenses funded by fees
– third party funding
We implement cost recovery for a number of
activities, including:
•
processing applications under the EEZ Act
•
processing Nationally Significant Proposals
and Water Conservation Orders under the
Resource Management Act (RMA)
•
monitoring consents and permitted
activities (other than foreign scientific
research, costs associated with permitted
submarine cables, and Crown-funded
research) in the EEZ
•
processing applications under the
Hazardous Substances and New Organisms
(HNSO) Act
•
making rulings under the Climate Change
Response Act.

Other areas are generally Crown funded, with
the exception of certain significant systems
and business improvement projects under our
programme of work, which may be funded
through the use of the EPA’s accumulated
reserves, subject to approval by the EPA Board.
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Our appropriations
and output performance
measures
Appropriation: EPA Decision-making Functions
Table 5: Revenue and Expenses
Estimated actual
2018/19

Forecast
2019/20

Change

Revenue Crown

12,383

12,448

65

Revenue Other

2,746

2,447

(299)

Expenses

(18,183)

(18,989)

(806)

NET DEFICIT *

(3,054)

(4,094)

(1,040)

In thousands of NZD

* Net deficit will be funded from accumulated reserves

Much of our work is about making decisions and
supporting decision makers, such as Decisionmaking Committees and Boards of Inquiry. Our
decision-making functions ensure we are able to:
• prevent and/or manage the adverse effects of
hazardous substances or new organisms
• fulfil New Zealand’s international obligations
regarding the import, export, and use of
ozone-depleting substances and the transboundary movement of hazardous waste of
international concern
• sustainably manage natural and physical
resources with respect to projects of national
significance
• sustainably manage natural resources of
New Zealand’s EEZ and continental shelf.
Our decision-making processes are evidencebased, lawful, transparent, and efficient,
whether they are for approvals, permits, or
consents. For some approvals and consents,
an important aspect of the process is the
receipt and consideration of submissions, and
recognising the unique relationship of Māori to
the environment in our decision making.
Our activities under the decision-making
appropriation relate to the following areas:

a.	Hazardous substances, new organisms,
ozone-depleting substances and
hazardous waste decision making
(HSNO decision-making)
−− Assessing and deciding applications for
hazardous substances and new organisms
under the Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Act.
−− Issuing import or export permits for
hazardous waste under the Imports and
Exports (Restrictions) Act and the Imports
and Exports (Restrictions) Prohibition
Order (No 2).
−− Issuing import or export permits for
ozone-depleting substances under the
Ozone Layer Protection Act (OLPA).

b.	Resource management decision making
−− Managing the process for applications
that are considered to be of national
significance, or other national level
decision-making processes15, under
the RMA.

c.	Exclusive Economic Zone
decision making
−− Assessing and deciding applications for
marine consents and rulings under the
EEZ Act, including decisions on dumping
and discharge activities subject to marine
consent.
−− Raising public awareness of the
requirements of the EEZ Act.
−− Assessing applications for permitted
activities.

15

This includes Water Conservation Orders.
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Measures of output performance

2019/20 target

Decision-making functions:
Sample of decisions selected by an
independent auditor demonstrates:
• decision-making processes are documented
• decisions meet statutory obligations and timeframes
• no adverse judicial comment on
EPA processes

Audit rating of effective or better

for:
a. Hazardous substances
b. New organisms
c. Exclusive Economic Zone
d. Ozone Layer Protection Act
e. Imports and Exports (Restrictions) Act
Sample of applications considered by a Board
of Inquiry or Special Tribunal selected by an
independent auditor demonstrates:
• processes to support decision
making are documented
• EPA statutory obligations and timeframes are met
• no adverse judicial comment on EPA processes

Audit rating of effective or better

for:
a. Proposals of national significance
b. Water conservation orders
c. EEZ marine consents

Appropriation: EPA Monitoring and
Enforcement Functions
Table 6: Revenue and Expenses
In thousands of NZD

Revenue Crown
Revenue Other
Expenses
NET DEFICIT *

Estimated actual
2018/19

Forecast
2019/20

Change

6,742

7,277

535

178

141

(37)

(7,041)

(7,666)

(625)

(121)

(248)

(127)

* Net deficit will be funded from accumulated reserves

Our monitoring and enforcement output
class allows us to achieve objectives of the
environmental legislation we administer by:
•
preventing and/or managing the adverse
effects of hazardous substances or
new organisms
•
fulfilling New Zealand’s international
obligations regarding the import, export
and use of ozone-depleting substances and
the trans-boundary movement of hazardous
waste of concern

•

sustainably managing the natural resources
of the exclusive economic zone and the
continental shelf.

Our monitoring and enforcement
functions include:
•
monitoring and enforcement of compliance
with legislation, approvals, permits
and consents in relation to hazardous
substances, ozone-depleting substances,
hazardous waste, and activities in the EEZ
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•
•
•

making and reviewing EPA notices under
the Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Act
promoting awareness of the adverse
effects of hazardous substances on the
environment or people
implementation of a pilot compliance and
enforcement unit focused on assisting
councils to improve transparency,
consistency, and effectiveness of
enforcement action under the RMA

•

•

contributing to New Zealand’s involvement
in international agreements and protocols
relating to areas of regulation that the EPA
is responsible for implementing
a community engagement programme,
including a Safer Homes Programme.

Performance measures

2019/20 target

Improving environmental, safety, and health
outcomes through proactive compliance
monitoring and enforcement

A compliance programme is documented
and published, with milestones based
on assessment of risk to people and the
environment, for the following areas:
• Hazardous substances
• EEZ
• RMA
• OLPA
2019/20 compliance programme advised
to the Board by 31 July 2019, and published
on the EPA website, by 31 August 2019
Memoranda of understanding in place with all
regulators that undertake compliance enforcement
in cooperation with the EPA, with memoranda
reviewed and updated, by 30 June 2020

Appropriation: Emissions Trading Scheme
Table 7: Revenue and Expenses
In thousands of NZD

Revenue Crown
Revenue Other
Expenses
NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) *

Estimated actual
2018/19

Forecast
2019/20

Change

6,392

6,392

-

85

45

(40)

(6,246)

(6,715)

(469)

231

(278)

(509)

* Net deficit will be funded from accumulated reserves

This appropriation is intended to achieve the
efficient and effective administration of the
New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS)
and the operation of the New Zealand Emissions
Trading Register (the Register). Account holders
and participants use the Register to meet ETS
obligations, receive units from the Crown, and
transact within the domestic carbon market.
These activities allow the ETS and carbon market
to operate.

Our role is to enable participants to meet
statutory requirements under the Climate
Change Response Act. We do this by making
decisions on the eligibility of account holders
and participants, and ensure compliance with the
rules relating to participation and administration
of the ETS. We are also responsible for the
maintenance, security, and integrity of the
Register. More specifically, our work includes:
• decisions on, and actions to support, activity
registration, administration of non-forestry
allocation, entitlements, and obligations
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•
•

•

promoting compliance amongst non-forestry
participants
determining enforcement actions for a range
of non-compliance, including late surrenders
and repayments, and those related to
synthetic greenhouse gas levies
providing information and reporting on
New Zealand’s international obligations, and
the trading of units.
Measures of output performance

We work with the other administrative partners
(Ministry for the Environment, Ministry for
Primary Industries, New Zealand Transport
Agency, and New Zealand Customs Service) to
operate the ETS and the synthetic greenhouse gas
provisions of the Climate Change Response Act.

2019/20 target

Emissions Trading Scheme
The New Zealand Emissions Trading Register
is run in accordance with legislation,
efficiently and effectively, and is secure

98% of participant registrations and deregistration
applications accurately recorded in the Register
within two business days of receipt of a properly
completed application
99.5% availability of the Register to customers,
excluding planned or other outage times allowed by
the hosting contract

A compliance programme covering ETS and
synthetic greenhouse gas levy responsibilities
is documented and published

Compliance programme for 2019/20 advised to the
Board by 31 July 2019, and is published on the EPA
website by 31 August 2019

An annual compliance activity report
is documented and published

Compliance activity report on progress against
compliance programme for 2019/20 advised to the
Board and published on the EPA website

Appropriation: Capital expenditure
– Hazardous Substances Database
Implementation
Table 8: Revenue
In thousands of NZD

Estimated actual
2018/19

Forecast
2019/20

Change

-

1,250

1,250

Revenue Crown – Capital expenditure

This appropriation of $1.25 million is to fund
the one-off capital expenditure related to the
Hazardous Substances Database implementation
project. This is one of a number of multiyear projects that are being implemented
as part of the EPA’s Hazardous Substances
Modernisation Programme. The project involves
the implementation of the OECD’s IUCLID
(International Uniform Chemical Information
Database) software to replace the Hazardous
Substances database. This new database will
enable New Zealand to record, store, maintain,
and exchange data on chemicals in ways that are
more aligned with other OECD countries.

Measure of output performance

2019/20 target

Hazardous Substances Database is implemented

To meet implementation milestones as determined
in the project plan.
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Our financials

Financial performance
measures
The following financial performance measures
provide an indication of our overall organisational
health and capability. These measures provide
information not otherwise available in the
Statement of Intent 2019–2023.

Financial Performance Measures
Unit

Estimated actual
2018/19

Forecast
2019/20

$000

5,357

2,506

%

313

199

Non-current assets as % of total assets

%

40

48

Additions as % of non-current assets

%

7

15

Non-current assets per Full Time Equivalent (FTE)

$000

28

24

Accommodation cost per FTE

$000

7.8

7.3

No.

185

197

%

2.00

2.00

Measure

Working capital
Net current assets
Current ratio
Resource utilisation

Human resources
Total FTEs
Learning and development as % of personnel costs
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Prospective financial
statements
Prospective statement of comprehensive revenue and expenses
Notes

Estimated actual
2018/19

Forecast
2019/20

Revenue Crown

6

25,517

27,367

Interest income

6

276

123

Other revenue

6

2,732

2,510

28,525

30,000

(18,458)

(18,763)

(1,300)

(1,318)

Other expenses

(11,712)

(13,289)

Total expenses

(31,470)

(33,370)

Net deficit for the year

(2,945)

(3,370)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSES

(2,945)

(3,370)

In thousands of NZD

Revenue

Total revenue

Expenses
Personnel costs
Depreciation and amortisation expenses

7
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Prospective statement of financial position
In thousands of NZD

Notes

Estimated actual
2018/19

Forecast
2019/20

12

2,064

1,794

8

200

137

104

100

5,500

3,000

7,868

5,031

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Debtors and other receivables
Prepayments
Investments

12

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

7

614

804

Intangible assets

7

4,627

3,851

5,241

4,655

13,109

9,686

9

1,197

1,149

Employee entitlements

10

1,243

1,305

Lease incentives

13

71

71

2,511

2,525

Total non-current assets
Total assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Creditors and other payables

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Employee entitlements

10

75

79

Lease incentives

13

71

-

146

79

2,657

2,604

10,452

7,082

10,452

7,082

10,452

7,082

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
General funds
TOTAL EQUITY

11
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Prospective statement of changes in equity
Estimated actual
2018/19

Forecast
2019/20

Balance at 1 July

13,397

10,452

Net deficit for the year

(2,945)

(3,370)

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE

10,452

7,082

Estimated actual
2018/19

Forecast
2019/20

25,517

27,367

291

131

3,030

2,557

Payments to suppliers

(13,046)

(13,313)

Payments to employees

(17,593)

(18,835)

29

37

(1,772)

(2,056)

Net receipts from maturity of term deposits

1,500

2,500

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(103)

(577)

Purchase of intangible assets

(265)

(137)

Net cash flows from investing activities

1,132

1,786

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

(640)

(270)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

2,704

2,064

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR

2,064

1,794

In thousands of NZD

Prospective statement of cash flows
In thousands of NZD

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from Crown
Interest received
Receipts from other revenue

Goods and services tax (net)
Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
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Notes to the prospective
financial statements

1. Reporting entity
The EPA is a Crown Agent as defined by the
Crown Entities Act 2004 and is domiciled
and operates in New Zealand. The EPA was
established under the Environmental Protection
Authority Act 2011. The EPA’s ultimate parent is
the New Zealand Crown (the Crown).
The EPA has responsibility for regulatory
functions concerning New Zealand's
environmental management. These include
national consenting under the Resource
Management Act, management of the
New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme and
Register, regulation of hazardous substances,
new organisms, ozone depleting chemicals,
hazardous waste exports and imports,
assessment of environmental effects in
Antarctica, and managing the environmental
effects of activities in the Exclusive Economic
Zone and Continental Shelf.
These prospective financial statements (the
financial statements) of the EPA are for the year
1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 and were authorised
for issue by the Board on 13 June 2019.

2. Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis.

Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Crown
Entities Act and with New Zealand Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP).
They comply with the Public Benefit Entity
(PBE) Accounting Standards as appropriate
for Tier 1 PBEs.

Preparation under PBE FRS-42
These financial statements are prepared
using the PBE FRS-42 Prospective Financial
Statements. The accounting policies set out
below have been applied consistently to all
periods presented in these financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in
New Zealand Dollars (NZD) and all amounts have
been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless
otherwise indicated.

3. Statement of significant
underlying assumptions
Revenue from fees
The revenue from fees is based on the following
assumptions:
• The activities of our stakeholders in
the past
• Specific indications of applications that are
expected from likely applicants
• Our assessment of the impact of recent
legislative changes.

Charging policy
Charges are applied for most types of
applications to the EPA:
• Applications for proposals of national
significance under the Resource Management
Act
• Applications for marine consents and rulings
under the Exclusive Economic Zone and
Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act

Statement of Performance Expectations 2019/20 | 107

•
•

Applications under Parts 5 and 6 of
the Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Act
Emissions Ruling applications under the
Climate Change Response Act.

There are hourly rate charges for marine
consent applications and other services under
the Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental
Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act which are
set by regulation. Under the Climate Change
Response Act there is a fixed initial fee plus an
hourly charge, set by regulation. Charges and
fees for proposals of national significance and
applications under the Hazardous Substances
and New Organisms Act are set by the EPA
Board. The former are hourly rate charges, and
the latter are, in the main, fixed fees. All the
fees and charges are listed on the EPA’s website
under Fees, Charges and Cost Recovery.

4.	Summary of significant
accounting policies
Significant accounting policies are included
in the notes to which they relate. Significant
accounting policies that do not relate to a
specific note are outlined below. There have
been no changes to accounting policies and
all accounting policies have been applied
consistently.

a) Impairment of non-financial assets
The EPA classifies its property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets as non-cash
generating assets because the primary objective
for the use of these assets is not to realise a
commercial return.
The EPA assesses at each reporting date whether
there is an indication that a non-cash generating
asset may be impaired. If any indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for
an asset is required, the EPA estimates the
asset’s recoverable service amount. An asset’s
recoverable service amount is the higher of the
non-cash generating asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and its value in use.
In determining fair value less costs to sell, the
EPA may engage an independent valuer, or it
may assess market value based on the best
available information. The assessment of value is
determined based on valuation techniques that
are appropriate for the asset.
Value in use is the present value of an asset’s
remaining service potential. It is determined
using an approach based on either a depreciated

replacement cost approach, a restoration cost
approach, or a service units approach. The most
appropriate approach used to measure value in
use depends on the nature of the impairment
and availability of information. If an asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service
amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and
the carrying amount is written down to the
recoverable amount. The total impairment loss is
recognised in the surplus or deficit. The reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus
or deficit.

b)

Goods and services tax (GST)

Items in the financial statements are presented
exclusive of GST, except for receivables and
payables, which are stated on a GST-inclusive
basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input
tax, it is recognised as part of the related asset
or expense. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, Inland Revenue (IRD) is
included as part of receivables or payables in
the statement of financial position. The net GST
paid to, or received from, IRD, including the GST
relating to investing and financing activities,
is classified as an operating cash flow in the
statement of cash flows.

c)

Income tax

The EPA is a public authority and is therefore
exempt from the payment of income tax.
Accordingly, no provision has been made in
these financial statements for income tax.

d)	Standards issued and not yet effective,
and not early adopted
There are no new, revised or amended standards
that have been issued but not yet effective
that would have a significant impact on these
financial statements.

5.	Use of judgements
and estimates
In preparing these financial statements,
management has made judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of
the EPA’s accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual financial results achieved for
the period covered are likely to vary from the
information presented, and variations may be
material. Estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
estimates are recognised prospectively.
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a)

Judgements

Judgements applied include provision for
impairment of receivables and in determining
lease classification

b)

Accounting estimates and assumptions

Accounting estimates and assumptions have
been applied in determining the useful lives and
residual value of property, plant and equipment
(PP&E) and software assets, and in measuring
long service leave obligations

6.	Revenue accounting
policies
Revenue from exchange and non-exchange
transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions are
transactions in which the EPA receives cash,
and directly gives approximately equal value,
normally in the form of services, to another
entity in exchange. Revenue from non-exchange
transactions are those where the EPA receives
cash from another entity without directly
exchanging approximately equal value. The EPA’s
significant items of revenue are as follows:

a)

Provision of services

Services provided to third parties under the
Hazardous Substances and New Organisms
(HSNO) Act in accordance with the EPA’s
published fees and charges schedule are treated
as non-exchange transactions, as the fees
and charges do not reflect the actual cost of
producing the services. Services provided to
third parties on commercial or full cost-recovery
terms e.g. in relation to the RMA and EEZ, are
treated as exchange transactions. Revenue from
the provision of services are recognised by
reference to their stage of completion.

b)

Revenue from the Crown

The EPA is primarily funded by the Crown. This
funding is restricted in its use for the purpose of
the EPA meeting the objectives specified in its
founding legislation and the scope of the relevant
Crown Appropriations. The EPA considers
there are no conditions attached to the funding
and it is recognised as revenue at the point of
entitlement. This is considered to be the start of
the appropriation period to which the funding
relates. The fair value of revenue from the Crown
has been determined to be equivalent to the
amounts due in the funding arrangements.

c)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method.

7.	Property, plant and
equipment, and
intangible assets
accounting policies
All property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation or amortisation and impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Where an asset is acquired in a non-exchange
transaction for nil or nominal consideration,
the asset is initially measured at its fair value.
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it
is probable that the future economic benefits
associated with the expenditure will flow to the
EPA. All other repair and maintenance costs are
recognised in surplus or deficit as incurred. The
costs of self-constructed assets are recognised
as capital work in progress until the assets are
operating in the manner intended, at which
time they are transferred to property, plant and
equipment, or intangible assets.
Depreciation and amortisation are recognised in
surplus or deficit and are calculated to spread the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment,
and intangible assets less their residual values
using the straight-line method over their useful
lives as follows:
Type of asset

Computer hardware
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment

Useful life

3-4
years
6 years

Leasehold improvements

6-9
years

Computer software

3-8
years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively, if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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8.	Receivables accounting
policies
Receivables are initially recognised at fair value,
and subsequently recorded at the amount due,
less any provision for impairment. A receivable
is considered impaired when there is objective
evidence the amount due will not be fully
collected. The amount of the impairment is the
difference between the carrying amount of the
receivable and the present value of the amount
expected to be collected.

Judgements - Provision for impairment
of receivables
All receivables older than 30 days are considered
to be past due. Management assess any
objective evidence of impairment of all overdue
receivables as at the reporting date.

9.	Payables accounting
policies
Creditors and other short-term payables are
recorded at the amount payable.

10. Employee entitlements
accounting policies
a)

Short-term employee entitlements

Short-term employee entitlements are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability is
recognised for the amount expected to be paid
if the EPA has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of
past service provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably. Employee
entitlements are expected to be settled within
12 months of the balance date and are measured
based on accrued entitlements at current rates
of pay. These include salaries and wages accrued
to balance date, and annual leave earned but not
yet taken at balance date.
A liability and an expense for performance
payments are recognised where there is a
contractual obligation or where there is a
past practice that has created a constructive
obligation and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made.

b)

Long-term employee entitlements

Employee entitlements that are due to be settled
beyond 12 months after the end of period in

which the employee renders the related service,
such as long-service leave, have been calculated
on an actuarial basis. The calculations are based
on:
• likely future entitlements accruing to
staff, based on years of service, years
to entitlement, the likelihood that staff
will reach the point of entitlement, and
contractual entitlements information
• the present value of the estimated future cash
flows.
The risk-free discount rates and salary
inflation rate are published by the Treasury for
consolidation into the Government's financial
statements.

c)

Defined contribution plans

The EPA’s contributions to defined contribution
plans are expensed in surplus or deficit as
incurred.
Annual leave and vested long-service leave are
classified as current liabilities. Non-vested longservice leave expected to be settled within 12
months of balance date are classified as current
liabilities. All other employee entitlements are
classified as non-current liabilities.
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
- Measuring long-service leave obligations
The present value of the long-service and
retirement leave obligations depend on a number
of factors that are determined on an actuarial
basis. Two key assumptions used in calculating
this liability are the discount rates, and the
salary inflation factor. Any changes in these
assumptions will affect the carrying amount of
the liability.
Expected future payments are discounted using
forward discount rates derived from the yield
curve of New Zealand Government bonds. The
discount rates used have maturities that match,
as closely as possible, the estimated future cash
outflows. The salary inflation factor has been
determined after considering historical salary
inflation patterns and after obtaining advice from
the Treasury.

11. Equity
Capital management
The EPA's equity is its general fund, represented
by net assets. The EPA is subject to the financial
management and accountability provisions of the
Crown Entities Act, which impose restrictions
on borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing
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guarantees and indemnities, and the use of
derivatives. The EPA manages its equity as a
by-product of prudently managing revenues,
expenses, assets, liabilities, investments, and
general financial dealings, to ensure the EPA
effectively achieves its objectives and purpose
while remaining a going concern. During the
current accounting period, the EPA has complied
with the above externally imposed capital
requirement.

12.	Financial instruments
and risk management
Financial instruments
•

•
•

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand, deposits held on call with banks, and
other short-term deposits with maturities of
three months or less
Investments comprise term deposits with
banks with maturities greater than three
months
Payables exclude taxation liabilities owing to
Inland Revenue (e.g. GST and PAYE).

13. Operating leases
accounting policies
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an asset to the EPA are classified as operating
leases. Lease payments under an operating lease
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives
received are initially recognised as a liability and
then amortised as a reduction in operating lease
costs over the lease term.

Judgements – Determining
lease classification
Determining whether a lease agreement is an
operating or a finance lease requires judgement as
to whether the agreement transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the EPA.
Judgement is required on various aspects that
include, but are not limited to, the fair value of
the leased asset, the economic life of the leased
asset, whether or not to include renewal options
in the lease term, and determining an appropriate
discount rate to calculate the present value of
the minimum lease payments. Classification as a
finance lease means the asset is recognised in the
statement of financial position as property, plant
and equipment, whereas for an operating lease no
such asset is recognised. All lease arrangements
have been assessed to be operating leases.
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